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I am pleased to welcome you to the 59th Ordinary Annual General Meeting and 
50th Extraordinary Annual General Meeting (AGM), where we present to you the 
consolidated financial statements and the auditor’s report for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2018.

Locally, despite the drop in oil prices and global turmoil in the financial markets 
throughout the year, the Kuwait Stock Exchange closed at 1.59%, while global 
markets witnessed sharp fluctuations in the last quarter of 2018 due to three 
factors, namely the continuation of large-scale sales, fears of a global economic 
slowdown due to trade tensions, and growing concern about slowing US growth 
as a result of Fed tightening. The Group’s long-term strategy has provided it 
with the capacity to develop and seize promising opportunities despite facing 
challenges. The ultimate goal and its purpose is to enhance its future growth. 

The Group achieved a profit of KD 20 million compared to KD 24 million for the 
same period of 2017. The decrease was due to a decrease in the share of the 
results of associates and the decrease in profit from the sale of associates.

In these fluctuating financial and geopolitical conditions that the local and 
international financial markets are undergoing, with the continued support and 
confidence of the shareholders, we pray to God Almighty that in the coming year 
we achieve rewarding returns in the revenues and operating profit of the Group.  

We will present to you the Annual Corporate Governance Report, which lists the 
efforts of the Board of Directors and the Executive Management to achieve a 
governance system for the Holding Company in accordance with the leading 
practices and in accordance with the Kuwait Capital Market Authority Law to 
achieve a better environment for shareholders and stakeholders of NIG. I take 
this opportunity to thank all my colleagues, members of the Council, as well as 
the Executive management for their high level of cooperation and sincere efforts 
to serve shareholders and stakeholders.

The BOD proposed a recommendation to the AGM  the distribution of dividends 
for the year 2018 at a rate of 12% for (12 fils per share) 5% bonus (5 shares per 100 
shares). In addition, the BOD also recommended KD 480,000 should be rewarded 
to the Board of Directors.

Distinguished Shareholders, 

Chairman Speech
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In conclusion, we ask Allah Almighty to save beloved Kuwait and grant tranquillity and 
the ability to move ahead with the implementation of its development plans under the 
wise leadership of His Highness the Amir and His Highness the Crown Prince.

Success is from Allah

Chairman of the Board

Sa’ad Mohammed Al Sa’ad
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First: Subsidiaries Company

National Industries Company NIC•	

During the year 2018, sales increased by 17% to KD 53 million compared to KD 45 million in 2017, while 
the cost of sales increased to KD 44 million compared to KD 37 million in 2017, an increase of 20%. Net 
profit for the year was KD 4 million in 2018 compared to KD 3 million in 2017.

During 2018, the ready-mix fleet (Cement mixer Cars - concrete pumps size from 55 to 63 meters) was 
increased to meet the needs of ready-mix mixing plants.

The supply of polyethylene manhole for civil aviation and the Ministry of Defense has been approved and 
supplied.

Installation of the cladding factory for low-thickness tiles (marble breaking) has been done.

The following expansions are expected in 2019:

New production line for polyethylene pipes (profile HDPE)•	

A new line for the production of plastic pipes (PVC)•	

Expansion of Cladding & Mortar Factory plant to increase energy by 50%•	

Increase the production capacity of the factory for light weight Slabs and Block bricks by 50%•	

Installation of a new production line for Interlock tiles of thickness 40 * 40 * 6.5 cm•	

Development of limestone presses and piston for limestone decoration•	

Noor Financial Investment Company Noor•	

Noor achieved record profits in 2018 compared to the previous years, with a net profit of KD 24.8 million at 
a profit rate of 62.0 fils per share.

This performance was achieved as a result of the operational operations of the company’s investments, the 
company’s exit from part of its stake in Bank Mezan Limited - in Pakistan, as well as a discount from the 
debt settlement process.

Annual Performance for the Dubsidiaries and Associates
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On the operational side, the positive performance of the Kuwait Stock Exchange during the year contributed 
to the achievement of part of these profits in addition to the company’s share of the operations of its 
associates and subsidiaries. The company succeeded in settling some of the creditors, which resulted in a 
decrease in loans by more than 50 million Kuwaiti Dinars.

Accordingly, the company’s financial position improved markedly. The debt to equity ratio of the company’s 
shareholders reached KD 55 million, or 136 fils per share, compared to last year’s value of 105 shares per 
share.

Ikarus petroleum services company •	
Ikarus

The company sold a portion of its shares in a 
manufacturing company. Most of the liquidity resulting 
from the sale currency was used to repay the largest 
portion of the company’s loans. It paid more than 
KD 15 million of loans and bank interest, whether 
due or in the form of early repayment, adjustment as 
high as possible. Accordingly, bank loans decreased 
from KD 14.7 million as of December 2017 to KD 
6 million in December 2018, which will improve 
the Company’s financing structure. In the second 
quarter of 2018, the company acquired 60% of the Middle East Chemical Industries Company in the Kingdom 
of Saudi Arabia, which is one of the promising companies in the basic chemicals sector. 

The company also acquired 9% of the shares of Kuwait Gate Holding Company. Kuwait Gate Holding 
Company owned 59% of the shares of Alexandria Fertilizers Company. The company’s revenues amounted 
to KD 13 million, compared to KD 2.3 million in 2017. The company’s profit amounted to 10.5 million Kuwaiti 
Dinars with a profit per share of 13 fils compared to KD 781 thousand in 2017 with a profit per share of 1 
fils. The company’s total assets increased to KD 121.8 million compared to KD 109.6 million in 2017. The 
total equity of the parent company amounted to KD 105 million with a book value of 134.9 fils compared to 
KD 93 million in 2017 and a book value of 119 fils .

At its last meeting, the Board of Directors approved the proposal to distribute 25 fils for 2018 profits subject 
to the approval of the General Assembly.

Al Durra National Real-estate company•	

The market remains unsatisfactory due to the decline in demands, but the occupancy rate in our properties 
is very good. According to the Board’s plan to develop the operational segments such as hotels, hospitality, 
retail and others to raise liquidity.

Completed Projects 2018:•	

Commercial Section / Best Mart:•	
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The Central Market opened in Shuwaikh in the second quarter of 2018 and is currently fully operational and 
new branches will be opened next year as planned.

Al Safwa Hotel Apartments in Mecca:•	

The 2017 development and renovation works are completed and are currently fully operational.

Saray Hotel Apartments (Benid Al-Qar):•	

The Saray Hotel was opened on 6/2018 and consists of 36 fully furnished apartments, 2 rooms, 2 bathrooms 
and kitchen, and works in a good occupancy rate.

Projects underway:•	

Industries Tower - Qibla (offices and commercial)•	

In the stages of construction and final finishes during the coming period and is expected to start leasing in 
the first quarter of 2019.

Ikarus Tower Project Dubai:•	

Most of the construction works are underway and are expected to be finished in the third quarter of 2019 
to start leasing in 6/2019.

The Tower of Wadi Al Rayyan Hotel - Riyadh City•	

Is in progress and is expected to be completed in the fourth quarter of 2019

Combined National Industries Holding Co. for Energy•	

In 2018, Combined National Industries Holding Co. for Energy distributed 24% cash dividends and reduced 
the capital by 29% after the sale of its investment in Airport International Group. The Company will evaluate 
new opportunities and projects to invest in. 

And with respect to the Company investment in Karachi Electric, the sale transaction is still on-going and 
all parties are seeking to complete the deal in 2019.

Proclad Group•	

In 2018 as in previous years, the oil and gas industry witnessed one of the longest periods of cyclical 
recession in its history because of the increase in the global supply of oil, which negatively affected oil prices 
and resulted in a significant drop in the capital investments. There is an indication that the oil and gas sector 
is recovering from the difficult cycle and now shifting to activity levels supported by increased investment 
in capital and the launch of new projects. The Group’s financial results for 2018 continue to reflect the 
difficult economic conditions experienced by the oil and gas industry. However, the Board of Directors took 
sufficient action in 2018 to protect the Group and reorganize the cost structure to accommodate current 
revenue streams. The Group is focused on continuing its diversification strategy and strengthening its 
market position in the oil and gas industries. The Group made a major strategic operational investment 
during the year.
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Second: Associate Companies

Kuwait cement company •	

In 2018, the company managed to achieve similar sales asthe year 2017, despite the company facing unfair 
price competition, the continued dumping of cement and imported clinker, in addition to the disruption of 
development projects and delays in the implementation of infrastructure projects in some new housing 
cities. During the year 2018, the company obtained the quality certificate approved by the American 
Petroleum Institute (API) for the production of oil wells with special specifications to be a new addition to 
the company’s product range.

In line with the company’s policy in keeping with the technological developments in the cement industry, 
work is underway to reduce the cost of fuel and increase production capacity.

Privatization Holding Company•	

During the year 2018, the company made efforts to develop the subsidiary projects, re-evaluate the existing 
investments and find resources and opportunities in various sectors and areas of interest. A new strategy 
was also developed to arrange and structure the investment portfolios and re-evaluate current investments. 
As well as focus on the development of projects between the private sector and the public sector. Total 
investments of Privatization Holding Company as of December 31, 2018 were estimated at KD 89.5 million. 
The value of direct investments at 31 December 2018 amounted to KD 63.3 million. The remaining liabilities 
were paid in 2018 for almost all investments.
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Introduction	 

National Industries Company Holding NIG is committed to Corporate Governance rules and regulation that 
is built by the leading practices and the defined laws and regulations.  NIG is regularly developing the role 
of governance, and adherence to the applicable laws and regulations to promote a stronger presence for 
effective regulatory environment that is aligned with the laws and regulations ratified by the Capital Market 
Authority CMA to ensure a high level of transparency to protect the rights of shareholders and stakeholders, 
where the CMA had issued a number of rules that listed companies must abide.

Rule I: Construct a Balanced Board Composition

NIG Organization Structure

Governing
Body

Functional
Level

Division
Level

Internal Audit Department

Board Secretary

Risk Management
Department

Risk Management
Committee

Audit Committee Nomination
&Remuneration

Committee

Chairman

CEO

Deputy CEO
Finance & Administrative

Finance & Accounting Corporate Affairs

BOD

Financial Accounting Human Resources

Infomation Technology

Administrative SupportFinancial Analysis

Managerial Accounting

Cashier Investors Affairs

Deputy CEO
Investment & Mega Projects

Treasurer

Direct Investment

Local Investment

International Investment
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Board Composition

The name Membership Qualification first election

Mr. Saad Mohamed Al Saad
Chairman of the Board– non-
executive

Bachelor of Commerce 1973

Mr. Sulaiman Hamad Al Dalali Vice President – non-executive Bachelor of Commerce 2004

Mr. Ali Murad Behbehani Non-Executive
Bachelor of Arts in English 
Language

1996

Mr. Salah Khaled Al-Fulaij Non-Executive
Bachelor Degree in 
Economics 

1995

Mrs. Maha Khalid Al-Ghunaim Non-Executive Bachelor of Mathematics 1995

Mr. Hossam Fawzi Al-Kharafi Non-Executive Bachelor of Civil Engineering 2007

Mr. Abdul-Aziz Ibrahim Al Rabiah Non-Executive Bachelor of Commerce 1979

Mr. Mohamed Abdul Mohsen
Al Asfour

Independent Non-Executive
Bachelor of Business 
Administration

2013

Dr. Abdul-Aziz Al Rashed Non-Executive PhD in Electrical Engineering. 2016

Mr. Mohamed Rashed AlMutairi Secretary of the Board
Master of Business 
Administration

1999

Board meetings during the year 2018
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Mr. Saad Mohamed Al Saad √ √ √ √ √ √ √ 7

Mr. Sulaiman Hamad Al Dalali x x √ √ √ √ √ 5

Mr. Mohamed Abdul Mohsen Al 
Asfour √ x √ √ √ √ √ 6

Mr. Ali Murad Behbehani x x √ √ √ √ x 4

Mr. Salah Khaled Al-Fulaij √ √ √ √ √ √ √ 7

Mrs. Maha Khalid Al-Ghunaim √ √ √ √ √ x x 5

Mr. Hossam Fawzi Al-Kharafi √ √ √ √ √ x x 5

Mr. Abdul-Aziz Ibrahim Al Rabiah x √ √ √ x √ x 4

Dr. Rashed Al Rashed √ √ √ √ x √ √ 6
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Managing the Board meetings

The Secretary of the Board was selected from within NIG, by appointing Mr. Mohamed Rashed Al Mutairi as 
board Secretary. The Board Secretary has the required qualifications that assist him to complete the tasks 
and responsibilities entrusted to him by the Board of Directors. The board secretary is responsible for the 
following:

Providing meeting agendas and confirming the date and location of meetings, circulating invitations •	
to Board Members, and providing supporting documentation by a certain deadline.

Keeping a record of all Board discussions, recommendations, resolutions, and results of voting •	
conducted during the Board meetings and acts as the custodian of Board documents.

Ensuring high quality information is presented to the Board and its committees and the meetings •	
follows all the regulatory requirements.

Rule II: Establish Appropriate Roles and Responsibilities

The Board derives its empowerment and legality from its memorandum and the articles of association that 
allows the Board of Directors to manage the company, where the Board determines the level of authority 
and responsibility given to the Executive Management to run the daily operation. Moreover, the Board also 
has full authority and rights to perform all actions on behalf of the Company and to participate in all activities 
and exercise all the authorities that deemed necessary for achieving its objectives, those authorities and 
procedures are explicitly provided in the commercial companies’ law issued by the ministry of commerce, 
and the company’s article of association, and the CMA Bylaws and regulations.

The authorities and responsibilities of the Board of Directors and executive management are clearly identified 
in the approved policies, procedures, and charters, where it clearly indicates that no party is allowed an 
absolute power, to facilitate the accountability of the Board of directors by company’s shareholders. The 
Board of directors holds liable for all the ultimate responsibility managing the company even by forming 
committees or delegating other individuals or entities authorized to perform work on behalf of the board. 
The board of directors should avoid issuing general warrants or for indefinite duration. The Board approved 
and adopted a set of authorities and responsibilities include the charters of each of

Chairman of the Board•	

Members of the Board of Directors•	

The CEO and his deputies•	

The Board achievements in 2018.

During 2018, the Board of Directors BoD made many decisions on many topics related to the company and 
the parties involved and the investment opportunities presented to the company. The Board discussed many 
of the huge investment opportunities offered for partnership on the company, as well as facing the difficult 
external conditions and geopolitical tensions in the Gulf and the region, The Group’s prudent policies, the 
strategy for continued growth of the Group, and the governance and transparency that have been applied 
by the Group over the past years have helped it. As external challenges continue, the Board of Directors is 
keen to continue the Group’s growth.
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Formation of a specialized committees to promote independence.

The Board formed some specialized committees to assist in performing its functions effectively and according 
to the needs and the nature of the company to apply a sound Corporate Governance, where the Executive 
prepared the Board charters in cooperation experts in that field. The Board formed the risk committees, the 
Audit Committee, nomination and remuneration Committee, as per the requirement of the CMA.

Composition of the Audit Committee:

The Audit Committee was formed for three years on 11/8/2016

The Audit Committee Members
Meeting 
No. 1 on
16/1/2018

Meeting 
No.2 on 

17/4/2018

Meeting 
No.3 on 

13/5/2018

Meeting 
No.4 on 
7/8/2018

Meeting 
No.5 on

25/10/2018

Number 
of 

meetings

Mr. Abdul-Aziz Ibrahim Al Rabiah Chairman √ √ √ √ √ 5

Mr. Mohamed Abdul Mohsen Al Asfour Member √ x √ √ √ 4

Dr. Rashed Abdul-Aziz Al Rashed Member √ √ √ x √ 4

Mr. Hossam Fawzi Al-Kharafi Member x √ √ √ x 3

The Audit Committee Role

Review the periodic financial statements before submission to the Board of Directors, and opinion and 1.	
recommend to the Board, with a view to ensuring the fairness and transparency of financial reporting. 

Recommending to the Board the appointment of external auditors and reset or change them and 2.	
determine their fees and considers when recommending appointments ensure their independence, 
and review letters of appointment.  

Follow the work of the external auditors, and to ensure that they provide services to the company, 3.	
except for the services required by the auditing profession.  

Reviewing the external auditors notes on the financial statements of the company and follow what was 4.	
in them.

Reviewing the accounting policies, opinion and recommendation to the Board.  5.	

Assess the adequacy of internal control systems within the company and to prepare a report containing 6.	
views and recommendations of the Committee in this regard.   

Technical supervision on the company’s internal audit department to verify its effectiveness in carrying 7.	
out specific tasks and actions by the Board.  

Recommending the appointment of the Director of internal audit, move, isolation, and assess the 8.	
performance.

Review and approve the audit plans proposed by the internal auditor, and comment.  9.	

Review the results of the internal audit reports and ensure that corrective actions have been taken on 10.	
the observations contained in the reports.  

Review the results of regulatory reports and ensure that the necessary measures have been taken.  11.	

Make sure the company’s commitment to laws and policies, regulations and instructions.12.	

13.	
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Achievements of the Audit Committee

The members met to elect a Chairman and members.1.	

Discussed Corporate Governance Guidelines and the charter and viewed the Audit Committee’s 2.	
authorities and responsibilities.

Discussed the proposals submitted to extract the best deals for performing the internal control report.  3.	

Discussed the internal audit reports along with the internal audit unit and met with the external auditors 4.	
to discuss the findings of the external auditing.

Composition of risk Committee:
The risk Committee was formed for three years on 11/8/2016

Risk Committee Members
Meeting 

No. 1 held 
26/3/2018

Meeting 
No. 2 held 
14/5/2018

Meeting 
No. 3 held 
7/10/2018

Meeting 
No. 4 held 
16/12/2018

Number of 
meetings

Mrs. Maha Khalid Al-Ghunaim Chairman √ √ √ √ 4

Mr. Ali Murad Behbehani Member x x x x 0 (out of Kuwait)

Mr. Hossam Fawzi Al-Kharafi Member √ √ √ √ 4

Mr. Mohamed Al Asfour Member √ x √ √ 3

The Role of the Risk Committee

Prepare and review risk management policies and strategies adopted by the Board of Directors, and 1.	
ensure the implementation of these strategies and policies, and they match the nature and size of the 
company>s activities.  

Ensure the availability of resources and adequate risk management systems.  2.	

Evaluate systems and mechanisms to identify and measure and monitor various types of risks that the 3.	
company may be exposed to identify deficiencies.  

Assist the Board to identify and assess the level of risk is acceptable in the company, be sure you have 4.	
not exceeded the company to this level of risk after its adoption by the Board.  

Review the organizational structure of risk management and make recommendations before its adoption 5.	
by the Board.  

Ensure the independence of the risk management staff on activities that result in the company’s risk 6.	
exposure.   

Ensure that the risk management staff have a full understanding of the risks surrounding the company, 7.	
work to raise the awareness of employees of the risk culture and unregulated.  

Discussion on risk management of periodic reports about the nature of the risks faced by the company 8.	
and submit these reports to the Board of Directors.

Review of the issues raised by the Audit Committee.9.	
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The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Company’s 
risk management framework. The Board of Directors is responsible for developing and monitoring the 
Company’s risk management policies.

The Company’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyze the risks faced by the 
Company, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk 
management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and 
Company’s activities. The Company, through its training and management standards and procedures, aims 
to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees understand their roles 
and obligations.

The Company’s Risk Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Company’s 
risk management policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in 
relation to the risks faced by the Company.

Achievements of the risk Committee

The members met to elect a Chairman and members.1.	

Discussed the committee charter and CMA bylaws regarding risk committee to set the authorities and 2.	
responsibilities.  

Discussed risk appetite statement risks register.3.	

Discuss risk management reports submitted to the members of the risk Committee.4.	

Summary of how to apply the requirements that allows Board members to obtain information 

and data accurately and in a timely manner. 

The Executive Management Department provides information and data that is complete and accurate and 
timely for all Board members in General and non-Executive Board members and independents in particular 
through integrated periodic reports submitted to the Board members as well as through periodic reports 
submitted by risk management by reports from the Audit Office to obtain all the essential information and 
data that enable them to undertake and carry out their duties and functions efficiently and effectively.



19

Rule III: Recruit Highly Qualified Candidates for Members of the Board of Directors 
and the Executive Management

Board members

Mr. Saad Mohammad Al Saad - Chairman 

Was appointed as Deputy Chairman and Managing Director of the company in 1973, then elected as 
Chairman in 2004. 

Currently Mr. Al Sa’ad is a Board member of the Egypt Kuwait Holding Company since 1999. Mr. Al Sa’ad 
held several positions and recognitions as follows:

Chairman and MD of Contracting & Marine Services Co.•	

Chairman of the Kuwait Accountants and auditor’s association •	

Vice Chairman of Kuwait National Petroleum Company•	

Board member of The Supreme Board of Directors for Planning and Development•	

Board member of Kuwait Building & Const. Co•	

Board member of National Bank of Kuwait•	

Board member of Gulf Cable and Electrical Industries Co.•	

Board member of Kuwait Aviation Fueling Company - KAFCO •	

Board member of Kuwait Cement Co. •	

Board member of Delta insurance company in Cairo•	

Board member of Saudi sand lime bricks & Build M. Co. in Riyadh •	

Mr. Al Saad hold a BS of Commerce from Cairo University. 

Mr. Sulaiman Hamad Al Dalali - Deputy Chairman 

Was appointed as a deputy chairman in 2004. Currently, Mr. Al Dalali as a Chairman of Kuwait Reinsurance 
company.

 Mr. Al Dalali held several positions and designations as follows:

Chairman of Ahlia insurance Company•	

Board Member of Burgan insurance company - Lebanon•	

Board Member of Arab Life and accident Insurance Company - Jordon•	

Board Member of trade union Co-Operative Insurance - Saudi Arabia •	

Board Member of Al Watania insurance company Sanaa- Yemen•	

Chairman and MD of the Gulf Insurance Company•	

Assistant Under Secretary Kuwait University •	

Vice Chairman and Chief Executive officer the establishment of transactions of forward sale of •	
companies’ shares.

Mr. Al Dalali hold a BS of Commerce from Cairo University. 
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Mr. Ali Murad Behbehani - Board member

Mr. Behbehani was elected as a board member since 1996. Currently, Mr. Behbehani has the following 
designations:

Chairman of Murad Yousuf Behbehani Company •	

Chairman of Kuwait insurance company•	

Vice Chairman of Gulf Bank •	

Board member of the Kuwait Danish dairy company.•	

Previously, Mr. Behbehani held several positions and designations as follows: 

Board member of Kuwait National Cinema Company•	

Board member of Kuwait Pipe Industries and Oil Services company•	

Mr. Behbehani hold Bachelor of English Language and Literature and education from Kuwait University.

Mr. Salah Khalid Al-Fulaij - Board Member 

Mr. Al-Fulaij was elected as a Board member since 1995. Mr. Al-Fulaij’s previous experience was as 
follows:

Vice President of Khalid Al-Fulaij Sons Co.•	

 Vice President of Sulaiman Al Fulaij trad & Cont. Company.•	

 Deputy Chairman of Gulf Bank.•	

Mr. Al-Fulaij hold a degree in Business Administration and economics from Emporio state University, USA.

Mrs. Maha Khalid Al Ghunaim - Board member

Mrs. Al Ghunaim was elected as a board member since 1996. Mrs Maha has a previous experiences were 
as follows:

Co-Founder / Vice Chairman and CEO of Global Investment House•	

Board Member of Board Member of Dar Al Tamleek - Riyadh•	

Vice Chairman of National Ranges Company “Mayadeen” •	

 Vice Chairman of Shurooq Investment Services Company •	

Board Member, Kuwait University, College of Business Administration (Kuwait) •	

Board Member of Union of Investment Companies (Kuwait)•	

Member of Financial & Investment Committee at Kuwait Chamber of Commerce & Industry (Kuwait)•	

Mrs. Al Ghunaim holds BS in mathematics from San Francisco state University of, California, USA

Mr. Hussam Fawzi Al Kharafi - Board member

Mr. Al Kharafi was elected as a board Member since 2007. Currently, Mr. Al Kharafi holds the following 
positions:

Member of Executive Committee and head of real estate and urban development of Mohamed Abdul •	
Mohsen Al Kharafi and sons company.
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Chairman of the MAK investments company Co. -Port Ghalib•	

Board member of Egypt Kuwait holding Company•	

 Mr. Al-Kaharafi held several positions and designations as follows:

Chairman of Noor financial investment Co.•	

Board member of Boubyan Bank•	

Board member of Ahlia insurance Co.•	

Board member of the National Real Estate Co.•	

Board member of Mabanee Co.•	

Mr. Al Kaharafi holds a master’s degree in public policy from Hamad bin Khalifa University –Qatar, and 
holds a bachelor’s degree of Civil Engineering from Kuwait University.

Mr. Abdul Aziz Ibrahim Al Rabia - Board member

Mr. Al Rabia was elected as a board member since 1979. Currently Mr. Al Rabia is the Chairman of National 
Industries Company, Previously Mr. Al Rabia’s designations was as follows:

Vise Chairman of National Industries Company.•	

General Manager of Mohammed Abdullah Al Rabia & Partners Co.•	

Board Member of the Kuwait Cement Company•	

Board Member of Kuwait Pipe Industries and Oil Services company•	

Mr. Al Rabia was Assistant Professor at Kuwait University and holds a BS in Accounting from Kuwait 
University. 

Mr. Mohamed Abdul Mohsen Al Asfour - Board member

Mr. Al Asfour was elected as a board member since 2013. Currently Mr. Al Asfour is holding the following 
designations: 

Vice Chairman and CEO of the Kuwait Building Materials Manufacturing Co. •	

Vice Chairman of National Cleaning Co.•	

Vice Chairman of Privatization Holding Company•	

Mr. Al Asfour Held several positions and designations as follows:

Minister of State for Housing Affairs.•	

General Manager of Kuwait Institute for Scientific Research (KISR)•	

Secretary General of the Kuwait University•	

Board member of Public Authority for Housing Welfare.•	

Vice President of Kuwait Ports Authority•	

Vice Chairman and MD of planning and engineering of Arab Petroleum Pipelines Co. (SUMED) - •	
Egypt 

Mr. Al Asfour holds a BS of Business Administration from the Cairo University.
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Dr. Rashed Abdul Aziz Al Rashed - Board member 

Dr. Al Rashed Was elected as a board member since 2016. Currently, Dr. Al-Rashed is holding the following 
designations:

Chairman of Kuwait Drilling Co. •	

Board member of Contracting & Marine Services Co.•	

Dr. Al Rashed holds a PhD in electrical engineering from University of Wisconsin USA. 

 Executive Management

Mr. Ahmed Mohammed Hassan, Chief Executive Officer (CEO)

In 2013, Mr. Hassan Got Elected by The Board to Be The Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Hassan Joined 
The Company In 1977 As The Finance Manager, Throughout His Extensive Career At NIG, Mr. Hassan 
Has Been Responsible For Overseeing NIG Finance And Administrative Aspects To Ensure Consistent 
Growth And Profitability. Mr. Hassan Is Currently A Member of Several Boards, Including Kuwait Syrian 
Holding Company, National Industries Company, Proclad Company Ltd, DIFC, FTV Proclad (UAE) LLC, BI 
Company In United Kingdom.

Mr. Reyadh S. Ali Al-Edrissi, Deputy Chief Executive Officer – Investments and Mega Projects

In 2013, Mr. Al-Edrissi Got Promoted to Be the Deputy Chief Executive Officer for Investments And Mega 
Projects. Mr. Al-Edrissi Joined NI Company In 1999 As A Projects Development Manager. Mr. Al-Edrissi 
Currently Serves as Chairman of Privatization Holding Company, Vice Chairman Of Meezan Bank-
Pakistan, Vice Chairman Of Noortel And A Board Member In The Following Companies, Noor Financial 
Investment, Ikarus Petroleum Industries, Markaz Energy Fund, Kuwait Ceramic Company, Investment 
Committee Of Bouniyan Fund Of The Kuwait Investment Co., Middle East Complex For Eng., Electronics & 
Heavy Industries Company, Saudi International Petrochemical Company. Mr. Edrissi Is Reporting Directly 
To CEO.

Mr. Faisal Abdul Aziz Al Nassar, Deputy Chief Executive Officer – Finance and Administration

In 2013, Mr. Al Nassar Got Promoted to Be the Deputy Chief Executive Officer for Finance And Administration. 
Mr. Al Nassar Joined NIG in 2005 as a Corporate Affairs Executive Manager. Mr. Al Nassar Currently Serve 
As Chairman And CEO Of Al Durra National Real Estate Company, Chairman Of Shorfat Al Safwa In KSA, 
Chairman Of Durra Alshameya Investment In KSA, Chairman Of Noor Al Salehia Real Estate, And Serve 
As A Vice Chairman Of Abu Dhabi Marina Real Estate Investment Company-UAE, And Vice Chairman Of 
Salboukh Trading Company, And A Board Member In The Following Companies: Noor Financial Investment 
Company, Noortel, Arabic Investment Company-Egypt, Meezan Bank-Pakistan. Mr. Al Nassar Is Reporting 
Directly To CEO.

Mr. Mubasher Hussien Sheikh, ACCA, Chief Financial Officer (CFO)

In 2015, Mr. Sheikh Got Promoted to Be the Company CFO, Mr. Sheikh Joined NIG in 2001 As A Managerial 
Accounting and Financial Analysis Manager, And In 2008 He Got Promoted To Be The Company Financial 
Controller. Mr. Sheikh Is Currently Serves as A Board Member in Karachi Electrical Limited/Pakistan. Mr. 
Sheikh Is Reporting Directly to Deputy CEO/Finance & Administration.
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Composition of the Nnomination and Remuneration Committee

The Nominations Committee formed pouch and treats for 3 years in the history of 11/8/2016

The Nominations and remuneration 
Committee Members Meeting No. 1 held 

in 16/4/2018
Number of 
meetings

Mr. Sulaiman Hamad Al Dalali Chairman √ 1

Mr. Salah Khaled Al-Fulaij Member √ 1

Mr. Mohamed Abdul Mohsen Al Asfour Member √ 1

The Role of Nomination and Remuneration Committee 

Recommend the nomination and re-election of the Board of Directors and executive management. 1.	

Develop a clear policy for the remuneration of the Board of Directors and executive management, with 2.	
annual review of appropriate skills requirements for the Board of Directors, as well as attract requests 
for those interested in executive positions as needed, study and review those requests, and identify the 
different segments of their bonuses will be granted to employees, such as fixed bonuses, performance-
related bonuses, bonuses in the form of shares, end of service indemnities. 

Prepare a detailed annual report for all awards granted to members of the Board of Directors and 3.	
executive management, whether amounts or benefits or advantages, whatever their nature and what 
they’re called, to present this report to the AGM for approval and recited 

The Board of Directors formed a nomination and remuneration Committee that deals with authorities and 
responsibilities related to selecting qualified people for the Board of Directors and executive management 
and defining a framework scheme for regulating the performance evaluation and reward.

The nominations and remuneration committee met to elect the committee chairman and members, the 
committee discussed book No.15 related to regulation the Corporate Governance code that was issued 
by the CMA. The NRC committee discussed the evaluation of the board members and the executive 
management.

Board Membership, and Executive Management Remuneration 

The Board set a policy for board membership and executive management remuneration aligned it to achieving 
business objectives and corporate performance, this policy reflects the company’s goals which considers 
the soundness of its financial position and the positive performance of the company. This policy is part of a 
general framework for corporate governance, designed to determine the rewarding system that is designed 
and implemented by the company in the form of mutual or common value beneficial to executive management 
and the Board of Directors for the company and in accordance with the interests of shareholders.

The Board has full responsibility for the design and implementation of the rewarding system through the 
nominations and remuneration committee, that committee function is to support the Board of directors by 
preparing, reviewing, and developing the rewarding system.  the NRC shall make recommendations to the 
Board of Directors on the assessment and linked reward structure for Board of Directors and executive 
management, the committee is also monitoring the implementation of the rewarding system, and make 
sure that there are no deviations or departure from the approved policy and the rewards structure, the NRC 
should identify the reasons for deviations if any, and ensure reporting to the Board of Directors to disclose 
the matter appropriately.
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Final approval of the rewarding structure of the Board of Directors and executive management by the 
Annual General Meeting AGM of the company, based on the NRC.  The total remuneration amount shall not 
exceed 10% of the net profit of the company (after the deduction of depreciation, reserves, shareholders’ 
dividends of not less than 5% of the company’s capital or any higher percentage as stipulated in the 
company’s Articles of Association).

Remuneration of Executive Management

During 2019, the NRC recommended to distribute the BoD remunerations of KD 480,000 for the financial 
year ended December 31, 2018.

In 2018 the NRC recommended to distribute to the BoD and an Executive Management remunerations for 
the year ended December 31, 2017.

2018 Thousand KD2017 Thousand KD

480480BoD Bonuses

500*500*Executive Management remuneration

*      The executive management remunerations include salaries, end of service indemnities, bonuses and other 
incentives. The 2018 bonuses figures represents the amounts that was paid based on the 2017 performance. 
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Rule IV: Safeguard the Integrity of Financial Reporting

The safeguard and integrity of the company’s financial statements is considered an important indicators on 
the integrity and credibility of the company in revealing its financial position, therefore increases investor 
confidence in the data and information provided by the company, and allows the shareholders to exercise 
their rights, the company is keen on the integrity of the financial statements and that financial statements of 
the company are being audited under the supervision of the audit committee, and ensure the independence 
and integrity of the external auditor.

The Executive management issue a covenant in writing to the Board of Directors, depicting that  the 
company’s financial statements are displayed properly and fairly, and it reveals all aspects of the company’s 
financial and operating results, and the financial statements are prepared in accordance with international 
accounting standards. The annual report provided to the company’s shareholders a written covenant of the 
integrity of all financial statements.

Independence and Fairness of the External Auditor.

The AGM shall appoint the external auditor based on the Board of Directors recommendation. The 
nomination of the external auditor, ultimately is based on the recommendation of the audit committee to 
the BoD. The company has dual independent external accounts that are registered with the CMA, and they 
comply with all CMA’s regulations and stipulations.  It is not allowed for the independent external auditor of 
the Company to perform any additional work that appear to have conflict or may affect his independence 
and integrity. 
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Rule V: Develop A Proper System of Risk Management and Internal Control

The company has a separate department of risk management that work primarily on assessing, monitoring 
and mitigating of all types of risks that are facing the company, aligned with an effective regulations and 
procedures for managing those risks.  This is an ongoing process, and is reviewed periodically, and the 
policies and procedures are modified as required.

Internal control systems.

Internal control is a comprehensive system extending to administrative control, accounting and internal audit. 
It is a set of tools and procedures followed within the company to achieve specific goals. The internal audit 
unit is aiming to assure the integrity of the financial information, safeguarding of assets, and shareholders 
and stakeholders’ interests.

Internal audit and risk management unit are working properly and independently according to the relevant 
regulatory requirements. Audit committee is responsible for assisting the BoD in overseeing the quality and 
integrity of the accounting information, the independence of the auditing, and having sound internal control 
and financial reporting practices.  Audit committee is responsible for the contracting with an independent firm 
for conducting the annual Internal Control Review (ICR) which was prepared by Qais Al Nisf and Partners 
(BDO). The objective is the independent evaluation of the internal control systems, and its adequacy within 
the company, and preparing report that contains weaknesses and recommendations directed to the audit 
committee. 
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Rule VI: Promote Code of Conduct and Ethical Standards

Embedding the culture of professional conduct and ethical values within the Company boosts the investors’ 
confidence in the integrity of the financial information of the company.  

The commitment of the BoD, Executive Management, and other employees with the internal policies, 
procedures, and legal regulatory requirements, will benefit the shareholders and stakeholders, without any 
conflict of interest along with a significant degree of transparency. The executive management prepared a 
code of conduct that includes the work behavior code of conduct and ethical standards. 

The Company’s code of conduct is tailored to the need of board members, executive management, and 
company employees. This code of conduct Incorporates all the requirements, determinants, and parameters 
necessary to exercise due professional conduct and ethics, that embeds the commitment of each of board 
member, executives’ management, and the employees fully comply with all laws and regulations, and to 
represent all shareholders and the stakeholders to their best interest. 

Mechanisms to limit the conflicts of interest

The company has developed a conflict of interest policy in line with the CMA regulations and the provisions of 
Kuwait Commercial Companies Law. This policy includes requirements and parameters that should be followed 
by the Board member, it determines that the board member should not be bound to enter into contracts or 
businesses arrangement with the company. The board member should inform the BoD if he has a personal 
interest whether directly or indirectly, in the agreements or contracts that is being made with the company and 
should be disclosed in the disclosure log. The board member with personal interest should not vote on any 
resolutions regarding that matter, the chairman should inform the AGM of such conflict of interest.

Rule VII: Ensure Timely and High-Quality Disclosure and Transparency

Mechanisms for timely disclosure and transparency.

The Board is obliged to develop mechanisms for a quality, and transparent disclosure to be in line with the 
relevant laws and regulations issued by the company’s law or CMA regarding that matter. Those disclosures 
are classified into either a company’s disclosure or BOD and executive management disclosures, where 
the disclosures log should be updated regularly.

The company’s disclosure is approved by the BoD and should disclose the financial data and information 
regarding the financial position, performance, ownership for all stakeholders through the proper panels, that 
assist the shareholders to understand their position fully, those proper panels are reviewed and updated 
regularly to be in line with the best practices, and CMA code of Corporate Governance.

 Disclosures of board members and executive management are updated regularly in a register, that register 
is made available for shareholders of the company, without any fee or charge, the company is also committed 
to update this log data periodically to reflect the true situation of the related involved.

The company has a unit that meant to manage the investor’s affairs, this unit is responsible for providing 
data and information and reports required for potential investors, are providing those investors with any 
data and information and reports accurately and timely.

Corporate Governance and Information Technology

The company has a dedicated section on the website for Corporate Governance , where all information is displayed 
and the latest data that may assist shareholders, potential investors, and other stakeholders in exercising their 
rights and assess the performance of the company, there is also a special section for financial analysis show the 
performance indicators for the holding company and the listed subsidiaries www.nig.com.kw
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Rule VIII: Respect the Rights of Shareholders

NIG ensures that all shareholders can exercise their rights fairly, including their right to vote in the AGM, 
where each shareholder, regardless of the number of shares held, shall have the right to attend the AGM, 
and shall have a number of votes equal to those allocated for his shares.  An invitation is sent to all 
shareholders to attend the AGM, whether ordinary or extraordinary, through publication in local newspapers 
or through e-mail or fax, provided that the shareholder has given this information to KCC.

All shareholders are strongly encouraged to attend the AGM and to vote according to their will, including the 
election of board members. The shareholders have a right to delegate a person to attend the AGM through 
a proxy prepared by the company for this purpose. 

The Company treats all shareholders equally and without any discrimination, no distinguish between 
shareholders.

Protection of Shareholders’ Rights Policy

The company’s article of association, policies, and procedures are ensuring that all shareholders can use 
their rights equally without any discrimination, to protect their rights that should include the following:

Shareholder ownership are registered in the company’s records.•	

Disposition or transfer of shares ownership.•	

Receiving dividends.•	

In case of liquidation, shareholder is entitled to get a share of the company’s assets.•	

Access to financial data and information about the company and its operational strategy and •	
investment activity on a timely basis.

Participation in AGM and exercising his voting rights.•	

Electing board members.•	

Monitor the company’s performance of and the activities of the board.•	

Shareholders’ Register 

The company has a contract with the Kuwait clearing company (KCC), where KCC creates a registry •	
contains the investor name, nationality, residence, and the number of shares owned by each of them, 
any investor may request the KCC to provide the data from this register. 

The company has an investor’s affairs unit where this unit is maintaining a shareholders register that •	
is updated by any changes for the ownership percentages, or adding new shareholders, or deletion 
of shareholders. Any shareholder may request this unit to provide the data from this register. 

Bonds/Sukuk issue manager maintains a register in where is contains bond/sukuk holders names, •	
nationality, residence, and the number and type of securities or instruments owned by each of them, 
and any instrument holder may request the company or the issue manager to provide the data from 
this register. \

The company is responsible for keeping the confidentiality of all the data of the shareholders and the •	
instrument holders 
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Participate in the General meetings of shareholders

The BoD invites the shareholders to the meet within the three months that follow the end of the financial 
year, the time and the place is to be determined according to the company’s bylaws. The BoD may invite 
this AGM to meet whenever necessary. The Board should also invite the AGM at a reasoned request of 
several shareholders owning at least 10% of the Company’s paid up capital, or at the request of the Auditor, 
within fifteen days from the date of the request.

The agenda of the AGM should include as a minimum the following:

Reciting the Corporate Governance report and the audit committee report.•	

BoD activity report, and financial position.•	

External auditors report of the on the results of the financial year of the company.•	

The related party transactions report•	

Rule IX: Recognize the Roles of Stakeholders	

NIG is committed to protecting the rights of all stakeholders as a major component of the Corporate 
Governance, BoD is responsible for setting the standards to protect the rights of all stakeholders and for 
updating these standards as and when appropriate, to reflect changes in the provisions of the laws, bylaws 
and instructions issued by CMA, or ministry of commerce.

It is the BoD responsibility to appoint competent executive management, to effectively and efficiently 
supervise the company’s activities according to the adopted and approved policies and procedures and to 
act to the best manners following the code of conduct and work ethics.

The company developed a mechanism to facilitate for the stakeholders to inform the Company about 
any improper practices exposed by the company, with appropriate protection of reporting Parties and 
company by providing e-mail to report any improper practices, the risk management are investigating 
immediately upon receipt with a guarantee of identity protection to those who report the incidents. 
The email is whisleblower@nig.com.kw .

RULE X: ENCOURAGE AND ENHANCE PERFORMANCE

Assessment and Development of the Board

The company developed a mechanism for Board assessment, where NIG is showing dedication of improving 
the Board’s performance and its supervisory role as well as the performance of each committee. During the 
year the NRC conducted, an assessment of the board performance according to a preset key performance 
indicator, that evaluation may reveal the strengths, and weaknesses of the BoD and develop appropriate 
ways to improve. Chairman shall review the training and development needs based on the assessment 
results. The assessment matrix focuses on five key points:

Composition and qualifications.•	

Efficiency and effectiveness.•	

Communication•	

Supervision.•	

Attendance.•	
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Assessment and Development of the Executive Management

The NRC as well, conducted a performance appraisal for the executive management to assess their 
competency according to a defined KPIs, the BoD and the NRC may propose a way to improve the 
performance of the executive management at their discretion.

 Value Creation

The Board works constantly to create the corporate values through achieving strategic goals and enhancing 
performance by accomplishing the following responsibilities:

Approve the strategic direction of the company and its vision and mission.•	

Review and approve the company’s business plans, policies, and charters including the inherent •	
level of risk in these plans.

Reviewing the performance of the subsidiaries of the group.•	

Rule XI: Focus on the Importance of Corporate Social Responsibility

The company is keen to develop its societal development and strategy with the social, economic and 
environmental needs and utility results to the community and the company, the Board confirms its attachment 
to the importance of social responsibility to reduce the harmful effects to society and the environment and 
the development of good effects.

For NIG to perform its corporate social responsibility in a proper manner to serve the Kuwaiti community, 
the following activities were performed

Interacting in a numerous of social activities, related to special need, and Autism cases i1.	

Continuous support for mabarrah, as a social responsibility in home service the national industries 2.	
company holdings to create “charity” to national charities called it “charity” national industries company, 
the Company’s Board of Directors has placed great confidence and great moral and material support 
it with a separate headquarters, thereby providing an element of stability in the work Al mabarrah and 
support productivity and contribute to meetings regularly.

For this charity national industries company was able despite her upbringing – since 2007 to support many 
charitable projects that reinforce diverse national belonging to the country and appoint needy nationals and 
expatriates, both on the level of education or health or social, economic or other levels

And the activities supported by Al mabarrah

Supporting the Foster Mother Project •	

Monetary and Vocational Rehabilitation project for orphans •	

Supporting “Khaleh Yentej Project” to provide rehabilitating and employment to low-income youth.•	

Contribute to the donation campaign to assist flood affected people in Pakistan•	

Provide scholarship for postgraduate studies in Islamic economy in collaboration with Center of •	
Excellence in Management
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Support the activities and programs of the Rashad center in the Central Prison•	

Financial support to the training center for the rehabilitation of drug abusers•	

Monetary support to the needy students •	

Project of Kuwaiti orphanage home as an independent governmental agency.•	

Support the medical camp to examine and treat expatriate workers free of charge•	

Kuwait City Charity Project to house Syrian refugees•	

Supporting the construction and establishment of a modern and religious school in India•	

Contribute to the aid convoy of food and relief materials to Gaza•	

Supporting the project of publishing of one million Quran •	

support the French publication of the book on the teachings of the Prophet Mohammed •	

Support to release the women prisoners held in custody due to financial liabilities •	

Provide financial support to the orphaned students in cooperation with Al Najat charity (student •	
welfare committee) 

Supporting the formation of library which publishes books on the upliftment of orphan children•	
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Independent auditors’ report 

To the shareholders of
National Industries Group Holding – KPSC 
Kuwait
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of National Industries Group Holding – Kuwaiti 
Public Shareholding Company (the ‘‘Parent Company”) and Subsidiaries, (collectively the  “Group”), which 
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018, and the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then 
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2018, and its consolidated financial 
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the 
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA 
Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, 
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. We have determined the matters described 
below as the key audit matters.

Valuation of investments held at fair value   

The Group invests in various assets classes, of which 48% of the total assets represent investments which 
are carried at fair value and classified either as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss or as 
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income. These investments are fair valued on 
a basis considered most appropriate by the management, depending on the nature of the investment, and 
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of  National 
Industries Group Holding – KPSC (continued)

the valuation is performed by the Group using a fair value hierarchy as detailed in Note 36.3.  45% of these 
investments are carried at fair value based on Level 1 valuations, and the balance 55% of these investments 
are carried at fair value either based on Level 2 or Level 3 valuations. Fair value measurement can be a 
subjective area and more so for the investments classified under level 2 and level 3 since these are valued 
using inputs other than quoted prices in an active market. Given the inherent subjectivity in valuation of 
investments classified under level 2 and level 3, we determined this to be a key audit matter. Refer to Notes 
5.13.3, 5.13.8, 6.1, 6.2, 19, 20 and 36.3 for more information on fair valuation of financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss and financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income.

Our audit procedures included, among others, documenting and assessing the processes in place to 
fair value the investment portfolio. Agreeing the carrying value of the investments to the Group’s internal 
valuations prepared using valuation techniques, assessing and challenging the appropriateness of estimates, 
assumptions and valuation methodology and obtaining supporting documentation and explanations to 
corroborate the valuations. 

Key Audit Matters (continued)

Impairment of investments in associates

The Group’s investments in associates represent 26% of the total assets and are accounted for under 
the equity method of accounting and considered for impairment in case of indication of impairment. The 
investment in associates is significant to our audit due to the Group’s share of results in the associates 
and the carrying value of these associates.  In addition, significant management judgment and number of 
assumptions are required in the assessment of impairment, including the determination of the recoverable 
value of the investment based on its value-in-use, in case there is a significant or prolonged decline in 
value based on published price quotes. Further, the projected future cash flows and discount rates used 
by the Group in determining the investment’s value in use are also subject to estimation uncertainty and 
sensitivity. Accordingly, we considered this as a key audit matter. Refer to Notes 5.4, 6.1, 6.2, and 23 for 
more information on investment in associates.

Our audit procedures included, among others, evaluating management’s consideration of the impairment 
indicators of investment in associates. In evaluating such consideration, we assessed whether any significant 
or prolonged decline in value exists, whether there are any significant adverse changes in the technological 
market, economic or legal environment in which the associate operates, or structural changes in the field of 
industry in which the investee company operates, or changes in the political or legal environment effecting 
the investees business, and also whether there are any changes in the investees financial condition. We also 
reviewed management’s assessment of the recoverable value of the investment including the reasonability 
of the cash flow projections and discount rates used in the value in use calculation for associates, where 
there was a significant or prolonged decline in value.

Other information included in the Group’s 2018 annual report 

Management is responsible for the other information. Other information consists of the information included 
in the Annual Report of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018 other than the consolidated 
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of  National 
Industries Group Holding – KPSC (continued)

financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. We obtained the report of the Parent Company’s 
Board of Directors, prior to the date of our auditor’s report and we expect to obtain the remaining sections 
of the Group’s Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 2018 after the date of our auditor’s report.  

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained during the audit or otherwise appears 
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we have 
obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated 
Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable 
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether •	
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting 
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
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involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures •	
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. 

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting •	
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting •	
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to 
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a 
going concern. 

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, •	
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or •	
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We 
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters 
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
(continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that 
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are 
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation 
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that 
a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of  National 
Industries Group Holding – KPSC (continued)

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

Furthermore, in our opinion, proper books of account have been kept by the Parent Company and the 
consolidated financial statements, together with the contents of the report of the Parent Company’s Board 
of Directors relating to these consolidated financial statements, are in accordance therewith. We further 
report that we obtained all the information and explanations that we required for the purpose of our audit 
and that the consolidated financial statements incorporate all information that is required by the Companies 
Law No. 1 of 2016 and its Executive Regulations, as amended, and by the Parent Company’s Memorandum 
of  Incorporation and Articles of Association, as amended, that an inventory was duly carried out and that, 
to the best of our knowledge and belief, no violations of the Companies Law, the Executive Regulations, 
or of the Parent Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation and Articles of Association, as amended, have 
occurred during the year ended 31 December 2018 that might have had a material effect on the business 
or financial position of the Parent Company.

Anwar Y. Al-Qatami, F.C.C.A.		

(Licence No. 50-A)

of Grant Thornton – Al-Qatami, Al-Aiban & Partners

Kuwait

24 March 2019



39

Consolidated statement of profit or loss

Note Year ended 31 
Dec. 2018

Year ended 31 
Dec. 2017

KD ‘000 KD ‘000

Sales 125,406 110,510

Cost of sales (103,331) (90,441)

Gross profit 22,075 20,069

Income from investments 8 44,683 34,570

Changes in fair value of investment properties 22 34 (3,455)

Share of results of associates 23 15,182 19,035

Profit on disposal of associates 23 4,207 17,447

Rental income 2,753 1,859

Interest and other income 9 21,994 4,760

Distribution costs (8,602) (7,384)

General, administrative and other expenses (25,404) (23,664)

(Loss)/gain on foreign currency exchange (855) 1,540

76,067 64,777

Finance costs 11 (32,693) (31,412)

Impairment in value of goodwill and other intangible assets 25 (3,634) -

Impairment in value of available for sale investments - (5,247)

Impairment in value of receivables and other assets (net of reversal) 17 (1,280) (246)

Profit before foreign taxation 38,460 27,872

Foreign taxation 12a (1,250) (488)

Profit before KFAS, Zakat, NLST and Directors’ remuneration 37,210 27,384

KFAS, Zakat and NLST 12b (1,263) (717)

Directors’ remuneration (480) (480)

Profit for the year 13 35,467 26,187

Profit for the year attributable to:

Owners of the Parent Company 19,841 24,160

Non-controlling interests 7 15,626 2,027

35,467 26,187

Basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to the owners 
of the Parent Company 14 15.0 Fils 18.2 Fils

The notes set out on pages 46 to 118 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

Year ended 
31 Dec. 2018

Year ended 31 
Dec. 2017

KD ‘000 KD ‘000

Profit for the year 35,467 26,187

Other comprehensive (loss)/income:

Items to be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods:

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations

- Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations (16,503) (4,670)

- Transferred to consolidated statement of profit or loss on partial disposal of an 
associate 4,514 -

Available for sale investments:

- Net changes in fair value arising during the year - (4,989)

- Transferred to consolidated statement of profit or loss on disposal - (11,444)

- Transferred to consolidated statement of profit or loss on impairment - 5,247

Share of other comprehensive (loss)/income of associates

- Changes in fair value (346) 3,368

- Transferred to consolidated statement of profit or loss on disposal (Note 23.5) - (1,703)

Total other comprehensive loss to be reclassified to profit or loss in 
subsequent periods (12,335) (14,191)

Items not to be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods

Defined benefit plan actuarial gains/(losses) 1,231 (1,086)

Net changes in fair value of investments in equity instruments designated at 
FVOCI (20,503) -

Total other comprehensive loss not being reclassified to profit or loss in 
subsequent periods (19,272) (1,086)

Total other comprehensive loss for the year (31,607) (15,277)

Total comprehensive income for the year 3,860 10,910

 

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year attributable to:

Owners of the Parent Company (6,540) 15,549

Non-controlling interests 10,400 (4,639)

3,860 10,910

The notes set out on pages 46 to 118 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of financial position

The notes set out on pages 46 to 118 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Note 31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

KD ‘000 KD ‘000

Assets
Bank balances and cash 15 32,077 38,436

Short-term deposits 15 9,136 8,020

Wakala and sukuk investments 16 1,153 1,153

Accounts receivable and other assets 17 49,453 95,907

Inventories 18 36,587 33,194

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 19 364,713 74,780

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 20 216,485 -

Available for sale investments 21 - 525,202

Investment properties 22  76,857 66,121

Investment in associates 23  317,462 336,045

Property, plant and equipment 24  88,876 72,314

Goodwill and other intangible assets 25  9,925 14,121

Total assets 1,202,724 1,265,293

Liabilities and equity
Liabilities
Due to banks 15  23,009 22,315

Accounts payable and other liabilities 26  58,677 48,391

Borrowings and bonds 27  611,117 673,315

Provisions 28  13,573 15,157

Total liabilities 706,376 759,178

Equity attributable to owners of the Parent Company
Share capital 29  135,985 135,985

Share premium 29  122,962 122,962

Treasury shares 30  (30,375) (30,375)

Cumulative changes in fair value 31 21,679 103,959

Other components of equity 31  23,827 30,457

Retained earnings  78,608 13,000

Equity attributable to owners of the Parent Company 352,686 375,988

Non-controlling interests 32 143,662 130,127

Total equity 496,348 506,115

Total liabilities and equity 1,202,724 1,265,293

Sa’ad Mohammed Al-Sa’ad 
Chairman 

Ahmad Mohammed Hassan
Chief Executive Officer
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C
onsolidated statem

ent of changes in equity

 

Equity attributable to the ow
ners of the Parent C

om
pany

Share
capital

Share 
prem

ium
Treasury 
shares

C
um

ulative 
changes in
fair value          

(N
ote 31 a)

O
ther

com
ponents     

of equity
(Note 31b)

R
etained 

earnings
Sub-
Total

Non-
controlling 
interests

Total

K
D

 ‘000
K

D
 ‘000

K
D

 ‘000
K

D
 ‘000

K
D

 ‘000
K

D
 ‘000

K
D

 ‘000
K

D
 ‘000

K
D

 ‘000

B
alance at 1 January 2018

135,985
122,962

(30,375)
103,959

30,457
13,000

375,988
130,127

506,115
A

djustm
ents arising on adoption of IFR

S
 9 on 1 

January 2018 (N
ote 4.1)

-
-

    -
(64,220)

-
60,789

(3,431)
(481)

(3,912)

B
alance at 1 January 2018 (R

estated)
135,985

122,962
(30,375)

39,739
30,457

73,789
372,557

129,646
502,203

Transactions w
ith ow

ners
A

m
ounts due to non-controlling interests on capital 

reduction of a subsidiary (N
ote 32)

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
(1,069)

(1,069)

N
on-controlling interests arising on acquisition of 

subsidiaries (N
ote 32)

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
6,568

6,568

D
ividend paid to non-controlling interests by 

the subsidiaries
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

(1,655)
(1,655)

D
ividend paid (N

ote 41)
-

-
-

-
(251)

(13,000)
(13,251)

-
(13,251)

O
ther net changes in non-controlling interests

-
-

-
-

(80)
(80)

(228)
(308)

Total transactions w
ith ow

ners
-

-
-

-
(251)

(13,080)
(13,331)

3,616
(9,715)

C
om

prehensive incom
e

P
rofit for the year

-
-

-
-

-
19,841

19,841
15,626

35,467
O

ther com
prehensive (loss)/incom

e for the year   
[actuarial gain and others] (N

otes 31,32 and 33)
-

-
-

(19,075)
(8,537)

1,231
(26,381)

(5,226)
(31,607)

Total com
prehensive (loss)/incom

e for the year
-

-
-

(19,075)
(8,537)

21,072
(6,540)

10,400
3,860

Transfer of reserve
-

-
-

-
2,158

(2,158)
-

-
-

R
ealised loss on equity investm

ents at FVO
C

I
-

-
-

1,015
-

(1,015)
-

-
-

B
alance at 31 D

ecem
ber 2018

135,985
122,962

(30,375)
21,679

23,827
78,608

352,686
143,662

496,348

The notes set out on pages 46 to 118 form
 an integral part of these consolidated financial statem

ents.
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The notes set out on pages 46 to 118 form
 an integral part of these consolidated financial statem

ents.

Equity attributable to ow
ners of the Parent C

om
pany

 
Share
C

apital
Share 

prem
ium

Treasury 
shares

C
um

ulative 
changes in
fair value                    

(N
ote 31 a)

O
ther

com
ponents

of equity
(N

ote 31b)

(A
ccum

ulated 
losses)/   
retained
earnings

Sub-
Total

N
on-

controlling 
interests

Total

K
D

 ‘000
K

D
 ‘000

K
D

 ‘000
K

D
 ‘000

K
D

 ‘000
K

D
 ‘000

K
D

 ‘000
K

D
 ‘000

K
D

 ‘000

B
alance as at 1 January 2017

135,985
122,962

(30,375)
108,729

31,526
(8,495)

360,332
137,047

497,379

Transactions w
ith ow

ners

N
on-controlling interests arising on acquisition 

of subsidiaries (N
ote 32)

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
302

302

D
ividend paid to non-controlling interests 

by subsidiaries 
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

(2,187)
(2,187)

O
ther net changes in non-controlling interests

-
-

-
-

-
107

107
(396)

(289)

Total transactions w
ith ow

ners
-

-
-

-
-

107
107

(2,281)
(2,174)

C
om

prehensive incom
e

P
rofit for the year

-
-

-
-

-
	

24,160
24,160

2,027
26,187

O
ther com

prehensive loss for the year [actuarial  
loss and others] (N

otes 31, 32 and 33)
-

-
-

(4,770)
(2,755)

(1,086)
(8,611)

(6,666)
(15,277)

Total 
com

prehensive 
(loss)/incom

e 
for 

the 
year

-
-

-
(4,770)

(2,755)
23,074

15,549
(4,639)

10,910

Transfer of reserve
-

-
-

-
1,686

(1,686)
-

-
-

B
alance as at 31 D

ecem
ber 2017

135,985
122,962

(30,375)
103,959

30,457
13,000

375,988
130,127

506,115

C
onsolidated statem

ent of changes in equity (continued)
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Consolidated statement of cash flows

Year ended 31 
Dec. 2018

  Year ended 31 
Dec. 2017

KD ‘000 KD ‘000

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before foreign taxation 38,460 27,872

Adjustments:

Dividend income from financial assets at FVOCI (3,607) -

Dividend income from available for sale investments - (6,572)

Profit on sale of available for sale investments - (18,124)

Changes in fair value of investment properties (34) 3,455

Share of results of associates (15,182) (19,035)

Profit on disposal of associates (4,207) (17,447)

Interest/profit on bank balances, short-term deposits and wakala 
investments (1,055) (617)

Gain on acquisition of subsidiary (593) -

Discount on settlement of borrowings (17,041) (2,063)

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment - 37

Net provisions (released)/charged (1,684) 512

Depreciation and amortisation 7,419 6,727

Impairment in value of goodwill and other intangible assets 3,634 -

Impairment in value of available for sale investments - 5,247

Impairment in value of receivable and other assets (net of reversal) 1,280 246

Finance costs 32,693 31,412

Other non-cash adjustments (351) (231)

39,732 11,419

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Inventories (2,444) (834)

Accounts receivable and other assets 43,977 6,930

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (833) 2,002

Accounts payable and other liabilities 681 1,054

Cash from operations 81,113 20,571

Taxation paid (666) (488)

KFAS, Zakat and NLST paid (46) (112)

Net cash from operating activities 80,401 19,971

The notes set out on pages 46 to 118 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of cash flows (continued)

The notes set out on pages 46 to 118 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Note Year ended 31 
Dec. 2018

  Year ended 
31 Dec. 2017

KD ‘000 KD ‘000

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (12,745) (7,883)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 66 26

Proceeds from disposal of investment properties - 2,200

Additions to investment properties (10,359) (7,012)

Investment in associates (2,107) (5,558)

Dividend received from associate companies 9,984 9,376

Proceeds from capital reduction/disposal of associates 17,200 1,103

Purchase of financial assets at FVOCI (14,366) -

Proceeds from sale of financial assets at FVOCI 12,464 -

Dividend income on financial assets at FVOCI 3,607 -

Acquisition of new subsidiary net of cash and bank balances (326) -

Decrease in wakala investments maturing after three months - 11

Disposal of intangible assets - 180

Decrease in blocked deposits 213 106

Purchase of available for sale investments - (39,949)

Proceeds from sale of available for sale investments - 55,491

Dividend income received from available for sale investments - 6,572

Interest/profit on bank balances, short-term deposits, wakala 
investments 762 708

Net cash from investing activities 4,393 15,371

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Finance lease payments (136) (118)

Net (decrease)/increase in borrowings (49,069) 1,745

Dividend paid to the owners of the Parent Company (12,075) (423)

Finance costs paid (32,870) (31,723)

Change in non-controlling interests 3,616 (2,281)

Net cash used in financing activities (90,534) (32,800)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (5,740) 2,542

Translation difference 16 (29)

(5,724) 2,513

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 23,922 21,409

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 15 18,198 23,922
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
Incorporation and activities1	

National Industries Group Holding – KPSC (“the Parent Company”) was incorporated in 1961 as a Kuwaiti shareholding 
company in accordance with the Commercial Companies Law in the State of Kuwait and in April 2003, its status was 
transformed to a “Holding Company”.  The Parent Company along with its subsidiaries are jointly referred to as “the 
Group”. The Parent Company’s shares are traded on the Kuwait Stock Exchange and Dubai Financial Market.

The main objectives of the Parent Company are as follows:

-
Owning stocks and shares in Kuwaiti or non-Kuwaiti shareholding companies and shares in Kuwaiti or non-
Kuwaiti limited liability companies and participating in the establishment of, lending to and managing of these 
companies and acting as a guarantor for these companies.

- Lending money to companies in which it owns 20% or more of the capital of the borrowing company, along with 
acting as guarantor on behalf of these companies.

- Owning industrial equities such as patents, industrial trademarks, royalties, or any other related rights, and 
franchising them to other companies or using them within or outside the State of Kuwait.

- Owning real estate and moveable property to conduct its operations within the limits as stipulated by law.

- Employing excess funds available with the group by investing them in investment and real estate portfolios 
managed by specialised companies.

The address of the Parent Company’s registered office is PO Box 417, Safat 13005, State of Kuwait.

The Board of Directors of the Parent Company approved these consolidated financial statements for issuance on 24 
March 2019. The general assembly of the Parent Company’s shareholders has the power to amend these consolidated 
financial statements after issuance.

Basis of preparation 2	

The consolidated financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention modified to include the 
revaluation of freehold and leasehold properties, the measurement at fair value of financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss and financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income and investment properties.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Kuwaiti Dinars (“KD”) and all values are rounded to the nearest 
thousand (KD ‘000), except when otherwise indicated.

The Parent Company’s management has decided to change the presentation of the consolidated statement of financial 
position to a presentation based on liquidity (previously the consolidated statement of financial position distinguished 
between current and non-current) as it provides information more relevant and appropriate of the Group’s activities. 

Statement of compliance 3	

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRSs”) promulgated by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”), and Interpretations issued 
by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) of the IASB.

Changes in accounting policies 4	

4.1	 New and amended standards adopted by the Group

A number of new and revised standards are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 which 
have been adopted by the Group. Information on these new standards which are relevant to the Group, is presented 
below:
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Standard or Interpretation                                                                       Effective for annual periods beginning

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement 1 January 2018

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 January 2018

Amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures relating to 
disclosures about the initial application of IFRS 9 1 January 2018

IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration 1 January 2018

Several other amendments and interpretations apply for the first time in 2018, but do not have a material impact on the 
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 

The Group has adopted IFRS 9, Financial Instruments effective from 1 January 2018.

The IASB published IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ (2014), representing the completion of its project to replace IAS 39 

‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’. The new standard introduces extensive changes to IAS 39’s 

guidance on the classification and measurement of financial assets and introduces a new ‘expected credit loss’ model 

for the impairment of financial assets. IFRS 9 also provides new guidance on the application of hedge accounting. 

The consequential amendments to IFRS 7 have also resulted in more extensive disclosures about the Group’s exposure 

to credit risk in the consolidated financial statements (Note 36). 

The main areas of impact are as follows: 

the classification and measurement of the financial assets based on the new criteria that considers the •	
assets’ contractual cash flows and the business model in which they are managed. 

an expected credit loss-based impairment will need to be recognised on the trade receivables and •	
investments in debt-type assets currently classified as available for sale and held-to-maturity, unless 
classified as at fair value through profit or loss in accordance with the new criteria. 

it will no longer be possible to measure equity investments at cost less impairment and all such •	
investments will instead be measured at fair value. Changes in fair value will be presented in profit or 
loss unless an irrevocable designation is made to present them in other comprehensive income. 

4   Changes in accounting policies (continued)

4.1  New and amended standards adopted by the Group (continued)

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

The main areas of impact are as follows: (continued)

if the fair value option continues to be elected for certain financial liabilities, fair value movements will •	
be presented in other comprehensive income to the extent those changes relate to own credit risk. 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)



48

IFRS 9 contains three principal classification categories for financial assets: measured at amortised cost, fair value 

through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). The standard eliminates 

the existing IAS 39 categories of held to maturity, loans and receivables and available for sale.

Further, the gains and losses on subsequent measurement of debt type financial instruments measured at Fair Value 

Through Other Comprehensive Income (FVOCI) will be recognised in equity and will be recycled to profit or loss on 

derecognition or reclassification.

However, gains or losses on subsequent measurement of equity type financial assets measured at FVOCI are 

now recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income (presented in the 

“cumulative change in fair value” reserve in equity), and transferred to retained earnings on derecognition and are not 

recycled to the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Dividend income on these assets continues to be recognised in 

consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Based on the analysis of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2018 and of the circumstances 

that existed at that date, management of the Group have determined the impact of implementation of IFRS 9 on the 

consolidated financial statements of the Group as follows:

Classification and measurement:

Group holds most debt type financial assets to hold and collect the associated cash flows and, therefore, these are to 

continue to be accounted for at amortised cost. 

Accordingly, bank balances and cash, short term deposits, wakala and sukuk investments, accounts receivables and 

other assets are all held to collect contractual cash flows and are expected to give rise to cash flows representing solely 

payments of principal and interest. Management analysed the contractual cash flow characteristics of those instruments 

and concluded that they meet the criteria for amortised cost measurement under IFRS 9. Therefore, reclassification for 

these instruments as of 1 January 2018 is not required. 

Equity investments are to be measured at FVTPL as well as FVOCI as certain existing investments in equity instruments 

qualify for designation as FVOCI category. The gains and losses on these investments are no longer be recycled to 

statement of profit or loss on subsequent measurement or on derecognition. Further, these investments are no longer 

subject to impairment test.

4    Changes in accounting policies (continued)

4.1	 New and amended standards adopted by the Group

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

The following table shows the previous measurement categories in accordance with IAS 39 and the new measurement 

categories under IFRS 9 for the Group’s financial assets as of 1 January 2018: 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
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Original 
classification 
under IAS 39

New 
classification 
under IFRS 9

Original 
carrying 
amount 
under 
IAS39

Re-
measurement 

–ECL 

Re-
measurement 

–Others

New 
carrying 
amount 
under 
IFRS 9

KD ‘000 KD ‘000 KD ‘000 KD ‘000

Financial assets 

Bank balances and cash Loans and 
receivables

At amortised  
cost 38,436 (14) - 38,422

Short term deposits Loans and 
receivables

At amortised  
cost 8,020 (1) - 8,019

Accounts receivable and other 
assets*

Loans and 
receivables

At amortised  
cost 90,448 (447) - 90,001

Wakala and sukuk investments Loans and 
receivables

At amortised  
cost 1,153 - - 1,153

Investments:

- Managed funds AFS FVTPL 81,291 - - 81,291

- Managed funds AFS FVOCI 29,236 - (21) 29,215

- Quoted shares AFS FVTPL 190,697 - - 190,697

- Quoted shares AFS FVOCI 40,745 - - 40,745

- Unquoted equity participations AFS FVTPL 27,142 - - 27,142

- Unquoted equity participations AFS FVOCI 156,091 - (299) 155,792

- Quoted shares FVTPL FVTPL 18,981 - - 18,981

- Quoted shares FVTPL FVOCI 5,947 - - 5,947

- Local funds FVTPL FVTPL 2,630 - - 2,630

- Local funds FVTPL FVOCI 2,704 - - 2,704

- Foreign managed portfolios 
and funds FVTPL FVTPL 43,140 - - 43,140

- Foreign managed portfolios 
and funds FVTPL FVOCI 1,378 - - 1,378

Total financial assets 738,039 (462) (320) 737,257

*Excluding non-financial assets of KD5,459 thousand.

(AFS - Available for sale, FVOCI – Fair value through other comprehensive income, FVTPL - Fair value through profit 

or loss)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
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4	 Changes in accounting policies (continued)

4.1	 New and amended standards adopted by the Group (continued)

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

The following table summarises the new measurement categories under IFRS 9 by class of financial asset as at 1 

January 2018:

IFRS 9 categories

Financial assets at 
Fair Value Through 

Profit or Loss 
(FVTPL)

Financial Assets 
at Fair Value 

Through Other 
Comprehensive 
Income (FVOCI)

Financial Assets at 
Amortised cost

KD ‘000 KD ‘000 KD ‘000

Bank balances and cash - - 38,422

Short term deposits - - 8,019

Accounts receivable and other assets - - 90,001

Wakala and sukuk investments - - 1,153

Investments 363,881 235,781 -

Balance at 1 January 2018 363,881 235,781 137,595

There is no impact on the financial liabilities of the Group and will continue to be measured at amortised cost. 

Impairment of financial assets:

In relation to the impairment of financial assets, IFRS 9 requires an expected credit loss model as opposed to an 

incurred credit loss model under IAS 39. The expected credit loss model requires the Group to account for expected 

credit losses and changes in those expected credit losses at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since 

initial recognition of the financial assets. In other words, it is no longer necessary for a credit event to have occurred 

before credit losses are recognised.

Specifically, IFRS 9 requires the Group to recognise a loss allowance for expected credit losses on:

(1) Debt instruments measured subsequently at amortised cost or at FVOCI;

(2) Trade receivables and contract assets; and

(3) Financial guarantee contracts to which the impairment requirements of IFRS 9 apply.

In particular, IFRS 9 requires the Group to measure the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to 

the lifetime expected credit losses (ECL) if the credit risk on that financial instrument has increased significantly since 

initial recognition, or if the financial instrument is a purchased or originated credit‑impaired financial asset.

The Group has applied simplified approach to impairment for trade and other receivables as required or permitted 

under the standard. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on the Group’s historical credit loss 

experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment. 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
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4	 Changes in accounting policies (continued)

4.1	 New and amended standards adopted by the Group (continued)

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued):

The Group’s balances with banks are low risk and are considered to be fully recoverable and hence measurement of 

bank balances under IFRS 9 did not have a material impact on the consolidated statement of profit or loss of the Group. 

It is the Group’s policy to measure such instruments on a 12-month ECL basis. However, the ECL provision on these 

balances are not material to the Group’s consolidated financial statements. In all cases, the Group considers that there 

has been a significant increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.

Summary of impact on application of IFRS 9:
The Group has determined that the application of IFRS 9’s impairment requirements at 1 January 2018 results in an 

additional impairment allowances as follows:

Provision as at
31 Dec. 2017 Adjustments Provision as at

1 Jan. 2018

KD ‘000 KD ‘000 KD ‘000

Accounts receivable and other assets (1,538) (447) (1,985)

Bank balances and short term deposits - (15) (15)

(1,538) (462) (2,000)

As allowed by the transition provisions of IFRS 9, the Group elected not to restate comparative information for prior 
periods with respect to classification and measurement, and impairment requirements. Differences in the carrying 
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 are recognised in the retained 
earnings and reserves as at 1 January 2018. Accordingly, the information presented for the comparative periods does 
not generally reflect the requirements of IFRS 9 but rather those of IAS 39.

The implementation of IFRS 9 has resulted in the following impact:

Balance at
31 Dec. 2017
as reported

Adjustments
Balance at
1 Jan. 2018 
as restated

KD ‘000 KD ‘000 KD ‘000

Assets

Bank balances and cash 38,436 (14) 38,422

Short-term deposits 8,020 (1) 8,019

Wakala and sukuk  investments 1,153 - 1,153

 Accounts receivable and other assets 90,448 (447) 90,001

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 74,780 289,101 363,881

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income - 235,781 235,781

Available for sale investments 525,202 (525,202) -

Investment in associates* 336,045 (1,153) 334,892

* The adjustments to “investment in associates” represents the Group’s share of the IFRS 9 impact related to the 
associate on 1 January 2018.
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4	 Changes in accounting policies (continued)

4.1	 New and amended standards adopted by the Group

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

The following table analyses the impact on transition to IFRS 9 to cumulative changes in fair value and 
retained earnings:

Cumulative 
changes in 
fair value 
reserve

Retained 
earnings

Equity 
attributable 
to owners 

of the 
Parent 

Company

Non- 
controlling 
Interests

Total 
equity

KD ‘000 KD ‘000 KD ‘000 KD ‘000 KD ‘000

Closing balance under IAS 39 – 31 December 2017 103,959 13,000 375,988 130,127 506,115

Impact of reclassifications and re-measurements:

Equities, funds and other investments from FVTPL 
to FVOCI (305) 305 - - -

Equities, funds and other investments from available 
for sale to FVTPL (61,381) 61,381 - - -

Equity securities and funds which were at cost from 
available for sale to FVOCI (82) - (82) (238) (320)

Group share of IFRS 9 adjustments done by the 
associates (2,452) 2,452 - - -

Recognition of expected credit loss under IFRS 9 for 
financial assets of associates - (1,110) (1,110) (43) (1,153)

Recognition of expected credit loss under IFRS 9 for 
financial assets - (301) (301) (161) (462)

Other adjustments related to IFRS 9 amendments - (1,938) (1,938) (39) (1,977)

Adjustments arising on adoption of IFRS 9 on 1 
January 2018 (64,220) 60,789 (3,431) (481) (3,912)

Opening balance under IFRS 9 – 1 January 2018 39,739 73,789 372,557 129,646 502,203

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

IFRS 15 replaced IAS 18 “Revenues”, IAS 11 “Construction Contract” and several revenue – related Interpretations and 
provides a new control-based revenue recognition model using five-step approach to all contracts with customers.

The five steps in the model are as follows:

Identify the contract with the customer•	

Identify the performance obligations in the contract•	

Determine the transaction price•	

Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contracts•	

Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.•	
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The standard includes important guidance, such as

Contracts involving the delivery of two or more goods or services – when to account separately for the individual •	
performance obligations in a multiple element arrangement, how to allocate the transaction price, and when to 
combine contracts 

Timing – whether revenue is required to be recognized over time or at a single point in time •	

Variable pricing and credit risk – addressing how to treat arrangements with variable or contingent (e.g. performance-•	
based) pricing, and introducing an overall constraint on revenue 

4	 Changes in accounting policies (continued)

4.1	 New and amended standards adopted by the Group

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (continued)

Time value – when to adjust a contract price for a financing component •	

Specific issues, including – •	

non-cash consideration and asset exchanges o	

contract costs o	

rights of return and other customer options o	

supplier repurchase options o	

warranties o	

principal versus agent o	

licencing o	

breakage o	

non-refundable upfront fees, and o	

consignment and bill-and-hold arrangements. o	

Adoption of the standard did not have any material effect on the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 

IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration

The Interpretations looks at what exchange rate to use for translation when payments are made or received in advance 
of the related asset, expense or income. A diversity was observed in practice in circumstances in which an entity 
recognises a non-monetary liability arising from advance consideration. The diversity resulted from the fact that some 
entities were recognising revenue using the spot exchange rate at the date of the receipt of the advance consideration 
while others were using the spot exchange rate at the date that revenue was recognized. IFRIC 22 addresses this 
issue by clarifying that the date of the transaction for the purpose of determining the exchange rate to use on initial 
recognition of the related asset, expense or income (or part of it) is the date on which an entity initially recognises the 
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the payment or receipt of advance consideration.

Adoption of these amendments did not have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 
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4   Changes in accounting policies (continued)

4.2	 IASB Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

Standard or Interpretation                                                                       Effective for annual periods beginning

 IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between and an Investor
and its Associate or Joint Venture - Amendments No stated date

IFRS 16 Leases 1 January 2019

IFRS 3 – Amendments 1 January 2020

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle 1 January 2019

IAS 28 – Amendments 1 January 2019

IAS 1 and IAS 8 – Amendments 1 January 2020

IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between and an Investor and its Associate 
or Joint Venture – Amendments

The Amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint 
Ventures (2011) clarify the treatment of the sale or contribution of assets from an investor to its associate or joint 
venture, as follows:

require full recognition in the investor’s financial statements of gains and losses arising on the sale or contribution •	
of assets that constitute a business (as defined in IFRS 3 Business Combinations)

require the partial recognition of gains and losses where the assets do not constitute a business, i.e. a gain or loss is •	
recognised only to the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in that associate or joint venture.

These requirements apply regardless of the legal form of the transaction, e.g. whether the sale or contribution of 
assets occurs by an investor transferring shares in a subsidiary that holds the assets (resulting in loss of control of the 
subsidiary), or by the direct sale of the assets themselves.

IASB has postponed the effective date indefinitely until other projects are completed. However, early implementation 
is allowed. Management anticipates that the application of these amendments may have an impact on the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements in future should such transactions arise. 

IFRS 16 Leases 

IFRS 16 will replace IAS 17 and three related Interpretations. Leases will be recorded on the consolidated statement of 
financial position in the form of a right-of-use asset and a lease liability.

Management is yet to fully assess the impact of the Standard and therefore is unable to provide quantified information. 
However, in order to determine the impact, management is in the process of: 

performing a full review of all agreements to assess whether any additional contracts will now become a lease •	
under IFRS 16’s new definition 

deciding which transitional provision to adopt; either full retrospective application or partial retrospective application •	
(which means comparatives do not need to be restated). The partial application method also provides optional 
relief from reassessing whether contracts in place are, or contain, a lease, as well as other reliefs. Deciding which 
of these practical expedients to adopt is important as they are one-off choices 

assessing their current disclosures for finance and operating leases as these are likely to form the basis of the •	
amounts to be capitalised and become right-of-use assets 
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determining which optional accounting simplifications apply to their lease portfolio and if they are going to use •	
these exemptions 

assessing the additional disclosures that will be required.•	

4	 Changes in accounting policies (continued)

4.2	 IASB Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

IFRS 3 – Amendments

The Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations are changes to Appendix A Defined terms, the application guidance, 
and the illustrative examples of IFRS 3 only with respect to Definition of Business. The amendments:

clarify that to be considered a business, an acquired set of activities and assets must include, at a minimum, an •	
input and a substantive process that together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs;

narrow the definitions of a business and of outputs by focusing on goods and services provided to customers and •	
by removing the reference to an ability to reduce costs;

add guidance and illustrative examples to help entities assess whether a substantive process has been acquired;•	

remove the assessment of whether market participants are capable of replacing any missing inputs or processes •	
and continuing to produce outputs; and

add an optional concentration test that permits a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and •	
assets is not a business

Management does not anticipate that the application of the amendments in the future will have a significant impact on 
the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle
Amendments to IFRS 3 and IFRS 11 - Clarify that when an entity obtains control of a business that is a joint operation 
it remeasures previously held interests in that business. The amendments to IFRS 11 clarify that when an entity obtains 
joint control of a business that is a joint operation, the entity does not remeasure previously held interests in that 
business.

IAS 12 - The amendments clarify that the requirements in the former paragraph 52B (to recognise the income tax 
consequences of dividends where the transactions or events that generated distributable profits are recognised) apply 
to all income tax consequences of dividends by moving the paragraph away from paragraph 52A that only deals with 
situations where there are different tax rates for distributed and undistributed profits.

IAS 23 - The amendments clarify that if any specific borrowing remains outstanding after the related asset is ready for 
its intended use or sale, that borrowing becomes part of the funds that an entity borrows generally when calculating the 
capitalisation rate on general borrowings

Management does not anticipate that the application of the amendments in the future will have a significant impact on 
the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

IAS 28 – Amendments

The amendments to IAS 28 clarify that an entity applies IFRS 9 Financial Instruments to long-term interests in an 
associate or joint venture that form part of the net investment in the associate or joint venture but to which the equity 
method is not applied.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)



56

Management does not anticipate that the application of the amendments in the future will have a significant impact on 
the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

IAS 1 and IAS 8 – Amendments

The amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 clarify the definition of ‘material’ and align the definition used in the Conceptual 
Framework and the standards.

Management does not anticipate that the application of the amendments in the future will have a significant impact on 
the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Summary of significant accounting policies5	

The significant accounting policies and measurements bases adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements are summarised below: 

5.1	 Basis of consolidation

The Group financial statements consolidate those of the Parent Company and all of its subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are 
all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the 
Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect 
those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is 
transferred to the Group and they are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases. The financial statements of the 
subsidiaries are prepared for reporting dates which are typically not more than three months from that of the Parent 
Company, using consistent accounting policies. Adjustments are made for the effect of any significant transactions or 
events that occur between that date and the reporting date of the Parent Company’s financial statements. The details 
of the significant subsidiaries are set out in Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements.

All transactions and balances between Group companies are eliminated on consolidation, including unrealised gains 
and losses on transactions between Group companies. Where unrealised losses on intra-group asset sales are reversed 
on consolidation, the underlying asset is also tested for impairment from a group perspective. Amounts reported in the 
financial statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted where necessary to ensure consistency with the accounting 
policies adopted by the Group. 

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group 
loses control of the subsidiary. Profit or loss and other comprehensive income of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of 
during the year are recognised from the date the Group gains control, or until the date the Group ceases to control the 
subsidiary, as applicable. 

Non-controlling interests, presented as part of equity, represent the portion of a subsidiary’s profit or loss and net assets 
that is not held by the Group. The Group attributes total comprehensive income or loss of subsidiaries between the 
owners of the parent and the non-controlling interests based on their respective ownership interests. Losses within a 
subsidiary are attributed to the non-controlling interests even if that results in a deficit balance.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction. 
If the group loses control over a subsidiary, it:

Derecognizes the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary•	

Derecognizes the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests•	

Derecognizes the cumulative translation differences, recorded in equity•	

Recognizes the fair value of the consideration received•	

Recognizes the fair value of any investment retained•	
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Recognizes any surplus or deficit in profit or loss•	

Reclassifies the parent’s share of components previously recognized in other comprehensive income•	

to profit or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate, as would be required if the Group has directly 	disposed of the 
related assets or liabilities. 

5   Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

5.2	 Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method in accounting for business combinations. The consideration transferred 
by the Group to obtain control of a subsidiary is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of assets 
transferred, liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group, which includes the fair value of any asset 
or liability arising from a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition costs are expensed as incurred. For each 
business combination, the acquirer measures the non-controlling interests in the acquiree either at fair value or at the 
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity 
interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date through the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss.

The Group recognises identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination regardless of 
whether they have been previously recognised in the acquiree’s financial statements prior to the acquisition. Assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed are generally measured at their acquisition-date fair values. 

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification 
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the 
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.

Goodwill is stated after separate recognition of identifiable intangible assets. It is calculated as the excess of the sum 
of a) fair value of consideration transferred, b) the recognised amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree 
and c) acquisition-date fair value of any existing equity interest in the acquiree, over the acquisition-date fair values of 
identifiable net assets. If the fair values of identifiable net assets exceed the sum calculated above, the excess amount 
(i.e. gain on a bargain purchase) is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss immediately.

5.3   Goodwill and other intangible assets

5.3.1 	Goodwill

Goodwill represents the future economic benefits arising from a business combination that are not individually identified 
and separately recognised. See note 15 for information on how goodwill is initially determined. Goodwill is carried at 
cost less accumulated impairment losses. Refer to Note 5.12 for a description of impairment testing procedures.

5.3.2 	Other intangible assets

Identifiable non-monetary assets acquired in as business combination and from which future benefits are expected to 
flow are treated as intangible assets. Intangible assets comprise of Indefeasible Rights of Use (IRU).

Intangible assets which have a finite life are amortized over their useful lives. For acquired network businesses whose 
operations are governed by fixed term licenses, the amortisation period is determined primarily by reference to the 
unexpired license period and the conditions for license renewal.

IRU are the rights to use a portion of the capacity of a terrestrial or submarine transmission cable granted for a fixed 
period. IRUs are recognised at cost as an asset when the Group has the specific indefeasible right to use an identified 
portion of the underlying asset, generally optical fibres or dedicated wave length bandwidth and the duration of the right 
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is for the major part of the underlying asset’s economic life. They are amortised on a straight line basis over the shorter 
of the expected period of use and the life of the contract which ranges between 10 to 15 years.	

5   Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

5.4 Investment in associates

Associates are those entities over which the Group is able to exert significant influence but which are neither subsidiaries 
nor joint ventures. Investments in associates are initially recognised at cost and subsequently accounted for using the equity 
method. Any goodwill or fair value adjustment attributable to the Group’s share in the associate is not recognised separately 
and is included in the amount recognised as investment in associates. 

Under the equity method, the carrying amount of the investment in associates is increased or decreased to recognise 
the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate, adjusted where necessary to 
ensure consistency with the accounting policies of the Group. 

Unrealised gains and losses on transactions between the Group and its associates and joint ventures are eliminated 
to the extent of the Group’s interest in those entities. Where unrealised losses are eliminated, the underlying asset is 
also tested for impairment.

The share of results of an associate is shown on the face of the consolidated statements of profit or loss. This is the 
profit attributable to equity holders of the associate and therefore is profit after tax and non-controlling interests in the 
subsidiaries of the associate.

The difference in reporting dates of the associates and the Group is not more than three months. Adjustments are 
made for the effects of significant transactions or events that occur between that date and the date of the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements. The associate’s accounting policies conform to those used by the Group for like 
transactions and events in similar circumstances.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an additional 
impairment loss on the Group’s investment in its associate. The Group determines at each reporting date whether 
there is any objective evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired. If this is the case the Group calculates 
the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value and 
recognises the amount under a separate heading in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Group measures and recognises any retained investment at 
its fair value. Any differences between the carrying amount of the associate upon loss of significant influence and the 
fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss.

5.5 Segment reporting

The Group has four operating segments: Investment, building materials, specialist engineering and hotel and IT 
services segments. In identifying these operating segments, management generally follows the Group’s service lines 
representing its main products and services. Each of these operating segments is managed separately as each requires 
different approaches and other resources. 

For management purposes, the Group uses the same measurement policies as those used in its financial statements. 
In addition, assets or liabilities which are not directly attributable to the business activities of any operating segment are 
not allocated to a segment. 

5  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

5.6  Revenue

Revenue arises from sale of goods, rendering of services, investing and real estate activities. 
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Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in a contract with a 
customer and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Group recognises revenue when it transfers 
control of a product or service to a customer.  The Group follows a 5-step process:

Identifying the contract with a customer1.	

Identifying the performance obligations2.	

Determining the transaction price3.	

Allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations4.	

Recognising revenue when/as performance obligation(s) are satisfied5.	

The Group often enters into transactions involving a range of the Group’s products and services.

In all cases, the total transaction price for a contract is allocated amongst the various performance obligations based 
on their relative stand-alone selling prices. 

Revenue is recognised either at a point in time or over time, when (or as) the Group satisfies performance obligations 
by transferring the promised goods or services to its customers. 

The Group recognises revenue from the following major sources:

5.6.1      Sale of goods

Revenue from sale of goods is recognized at the point in time when control of the asset is transferred to the customers 
generally upon delivery or shipment of the goods. 

Revenue from the sale of goods with no significant service obligation is recognised on delivery. 

In determining the transaction price for the sale of goods, the Group considers the effects of variable consideration, 
the existence of significant financing components, non-cash consideration and consideration payable to the customer 
(if any).

5.6.2    Rendering of services 

The Group generates revenues from after-sales service and maintenance, consulting, hotel operations, IT services and 
construction contracts. Consideration received for these services is initially deferred, included in other liabilities and is 
recognised as revenue in the period when the service is performed. 

In recognising after-sales service and maintenance revenues, the Group considers the nature of the services and the 
customer’s use of the related products, based on historical experience. 

The Group also renders hotel services and revenue from rendering of services is recognised in the accounting period 
in which the services are rendered or performed. Room revenue is recognised on the rooms occupied on a daily basis 
and food and beverage and other related sales are accounted for at the time of sale.

The Group earns fees and commission income from diverse range of asset management, investment banking, custody, 
consulting and brokerage services provided to its customers. Fees and commission income are recognised over the 
period of the service.

5   Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

5.6	 Revenue (continued)

5.6.3    Interest income

Interest income is reported on an accrual basis using the effective interest method. 
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5.6.4   Dividend income

Dividend income, other than those from investments in associates, are recognised at the time the right to receive 
payment is established.

5.6.5    Rental income

Rental income from investment properties is recognised as noted in Note 5.10.

5.7  Operating expenses

Operating expenses are recognised in profit or loss upon utilisation of the service or at the date of their origin. 

5.8  Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are capitalised 
during the period of time that is necessary to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. Other 
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred and reported in finance costs.

5.9  Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost or valuation less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 
Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or valuation, less the estimated residual value of property, plant and 
equipment, on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Freehold buildings Lower of 50 years or remaining useful life

Long leasehold property Lower of 50 years or remaining lease term

Short leasehold property Lease term

Property on leasehold land 4 to 20 years

Plant and machinery 1 to 20 years

Motor vehicles 2 to 10 years

Furniture and equipment 3 to 10 years

Any increase arising on revaluation is credited directly to other comprehensive income as “revaluation reserve” except 
to the extent where the increase reverses a revaluation decrease related to the same asset for which a decrease in 
valuation has previously been recognised as an expense, it is credited to the consolidated statement of income. Any 
decrease in the net carrying amount arising on revaluation is charged directly to the consolidated statement of income, 
or charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that the decrease is related to an increase for the same asset which 
was previously recorded as a credit to the revaluation surplus.

Depreciation on the re-valued properties is charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss over their remaining 
estimated useful lives and an amount equivalent to the excess depreciation charge relating to the increase in carrying 
amount is transferred each year from the revaluation reserve to retained earnings.

No depreciation is provided on freehold land. Properties in the course of construction for production or administrative 
purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss.  Depreciation of these assets, which is on the same 
basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.
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5  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

5.10  Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s 
net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are initially recognized as assets of the Group at their fair value at the inception of 
the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is 
included in the consolidated statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation. 

Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

5.11  Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation, and are accounted for using 
the fair value model. 

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequently, investment properties 
are re-measured at fair value on an individual basis based on valuations by independent real estate valuers and 
are included in the consolidated statement of financial position. Changes in fair value are taken to the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss.

Investment properties are de-recognised when either they have been disposed of or when the investment property is 
permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. Any gains or losses on 
the retirement or disposal of an investment property are recognised in the consolidated statement of income in the year 
of retirement or disposal.

Transfers are made to or from investment property only when there is a change in use. For a transfer from investment 
property to owner-occupied property, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting is the fair value at the date of change 
in use. If owner-occupied property becomes an investment property, the Group accounts for such property in accordance 
with the policy stated under property, plant and equipment up to the date of change in use.

5.12  Impairment testing of goodwill and non-financial assets

For impairment assessment purposes, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are largely independent 
cash inflows (cash generating units). As a result, some assets are tested individually for impairment and some are tested 
at cash-generating unit level. Goodwill is allocated to those cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from 
synergies of the related business combination and represent the lowest level within the Group at which management 
monitors goodwill. 

Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated (determined by the Group’s management as equivalent to 
its operating segments) are tested for impairment at least annually. All other individual assets or cash-generating units 
are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)



62

5	 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

5.12  Impairment testing of goodwill and non-financial assets (continued)

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s carrying amount exceeds 
its recoverable amount, which is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value-in-use. To determine the value-in-
use, management estimates expected future cash flows from the asset or each cash-generating unit and determines a 
suitable interest rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. The data used for impairment testing 
procedures are directly linked to the Group’s latest approved budget, adjusted as necessary to exclude the effects of 
future reorganisations and asset enhancements. 

Discount factors are determined individually for each asset or cash-generating unit and reflect management’s 
assessment of respective risk profiles, such as market and asset-specific risks factors.

Impairment losses for cash-generating units reduce first the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to that cash-
generating unit. Any remaining impairment loss is charged pro rata to the other assets in the cash-generating unit. With 
the exception of goodwill, all assets are subsequently reassessed for indications that an impairment loss previously 
recognised may no longer exist. An impairment charge is reversed if the cash-generating unit’s recoverable amount 
exceeds its carrying amount.

5.13  Financial instruments  

5.13.1  Recognition, initial measurement and derecognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions 
of the financial instrument and are measured initially at fair value adjusted by directly attributable transactions costs, 
except for those carried at fair value through profit or loss which are measured initially at fair value. Subsequent 
measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities are described below.

A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of financial asset or part of group of similar financial assets) is primarily 
derecognised when: 

rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired; •	

the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the •	
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass through’ arrangement; and either 

the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset or (a)	

the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all risks and rewards of the asset, but has (b)	

transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass- through 
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership. When it has neither 
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred control of the asset, the 
Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement.  In that case, 
the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a 
basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. When 
an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms 
of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the 
original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised 
in consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

5.13	 Financial instruments (continued)

5.13.2  Classification of financial assets

For the purpose of subsequent measurement, financial assets other than those designated and effective as hedging 
instruments are classified into the following categories upon initial recognition:

financial assets at amortised cost•	

financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)•	

financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive (FVOCI)•	

The classification is determined by both:

the entity’s business model for managing the financial asset•	

the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset•	

The Group may make the following irrevocable election/designation at initial recognition of a financial asset:

the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in other •	
comprehensive income if certain criteria are met (Note 5.13.3); and

the Group may irrevocably designate a debt investment that meets the amortised cost or FVOCI criteria as measured •	
at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch. In this period presented, no such 
irrevocable designation has been made.

5.13.3     Subsequent measurement of financial assets	

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet the following conditions (and are not designated 
as FVTPL):

they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial assets and collect its contractual •	
cash flows

the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and •	
interest on the principal amount outstanding

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less provision 
for impairment. Discounting is omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial.

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost comprise of the following:

Murabaha investments/receivables•	

Murabaha is an Islamic transaction involving the purchase and immediate sale of an asset at cost plus an agreed profit. 
The amount due is settled on a deferred payment basis. When the credit risk of the transaction is attributable to a 
financial institution, the amount due under Murabaha contracts is classified as a Murabaha investment. Whereas, when 
the credit risk of transaction is attributable to counterparties other than banks and financial institutions, the amount due 
is classified as Murabaha receivable. 

Murabaha receivables which arise from the Group’s financing of long-term transactions on an Islamic basis are classified 
as Murabaha receivables originated by the Group and are carried at the principal amount less provision for credit risks 
to meet any decline in value. Third party expenses such as legal fees, incurred in granting a Murabaha are treated as 
part of the cost of the transaction.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)



64

All Murabaha receivables are recognized when the legal right to control the use of the underlying asset is transferred 
to the customer.

5  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

5.13	 Financial instruments (continued)

5.13.3   Subsequent measurement of financial assets (continued)

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost comprise of the following (continued):

Wakala investments•	

Wakala is an agreement whereby the Group provides a sum of money to a financial institution under an agency 
arrangement, who invests it according to specific conditions in return for a fee. The agent is obliged to return the amount 
is in case of default, negligence or violation of any terms and conditions of Wakala.

Bank balances, cash and short term deposits •	

Cash on hand and demand deposits are classified under bank balances and cash and short term deposits represent 
deposits placed with financial institutions with a maturity of less than one year.

Receivables and other financial assets•	

Trade receivable are stated at original invoice amount less allowance for impairment.  

Receivables which are not categorised under any of the above are classified as “Other receivables/Other financial 
assets”

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for measurement at amortised cost or FVOCI are categorised at fair 
value through profit and loss. Further, irrespective of business model financial assets whose contractual cash flows 
are not solely payments of principal and interest are accounted for at FVTPL. All derivative financial instruments fall 
into this category, except for those designated and effective as hedging instruments, for which the hedge accounting 
requirements apply. The category also contains investments in equity shares.

Assets in this category are measured at fair value with gains or losses recognised in consolidated statement of profit 
or loss. The fair values of financial assets in this category are determined by reference to active market transactions or 
using a valuation technique where no active market exists.

The Group’s financial assets at FVTPL comprise of the following:

Investment in managed portfolios and funds--

Investment in quoted shares--

Investment in unquoted equity participation--

Financial assets at FVOCI

The Group’s financial assets at FVOCI comprise of investments in managed portfolios and funds, equity shares (quoted 
shares and unquoted equity participation).

On initial recognition, the Group may make irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-instrument basis) to designate 
investments in equity instruments as at FVOCI. Designate at FVOCI is not permitted if the equity investment is held for 
trading or if it is contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination.
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5  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

5.13	 Financial instruments (continued)

5.13.3   Subsequent measurement of financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at FVOCI (continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if:

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term; or•	

on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages together and •	
has evidence of a recent actual pattern of short‑term profit‑taking; or

it is a derivative (except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated and effective hedging •	
instrument).

Investments in equity instruments at FVOCI are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs.

Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in 
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the cumulative changes in fair value reserve. The cumulative gain or 
loss is transferred to retained earnings within the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Dividends on these investments in equity instruments are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

5.13.4    Impairment of financial assets

The Group computes expected credit losses (ECL) on the following financial instruments that are not measured at fair 
value through profit or loss:

Bank balances •	

Short term deposits•	

Wakala and sukuk investments•	

Accounts receivables and other financial assets•	

The Group recognises ECL on investment in debt instruments measured at amortised cost on balances and deposits 
with banks and other assets. Equity instruments are not subject to Expected Credit Losses.

Expected Credit Losses

The Group applies three-stage approach to measuring expected credit losses (ECL) as follows:

Stage 1: 12 months ECL 

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to 12-month ECL on financial assets where there has not 
been significant increase in credit risk since their initial recognition or on exposures that are determined to have a low 
credit risk at the reporting date. The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit risk when its credit risk rating 
is equivalent to the globally understood definition of ‘investment grade’.

Stage 2: Lifetime ECL – not credit impaired 

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL on financial assets where there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition but are not credit impaired.
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5  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

5.13	 Financial instruments (continued)

5.13.4	 Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Expected Credit Losses (continued)

Stage 3: Lifetime ECL – credit impaired 

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL on financial assets that are determined to be 
credit impaired based on objective evidence of impairment. 

Life time ECL is ECL that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial instrument. The 12 
month ECL is the portion of life time expected credit loss that result from default events that are possible within the 12 
months after the reporting date. Both life time ECLs and 12 month ECLs are calculated on either an individual basis or 
a collective basis depending on the nature of the underlying portfolio of financial instruments. 

Determining the stage of impairment

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a financial asset or group of financial assets is credit impaired. The 
Group considers a financial asset to be credit impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the 
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred or when contractual payments are 90 days past due. 

At each reporting date, the Group also assesses whether there has been significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition by comparing the risk of default occurring over the remaining expected life from the reporting date with the 
risk of default at the date of initial recognition. The quantitative criteria used to determine a significant increase in credit 
risk is a series of relative and absolute thresholds. All financial assets that are 30 days past due are deemed to have 
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition and migrated to stage 2 even if other criteria do not indicate a 
significant increase in credit risk.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are probability weighted estimates of credit losses and are measured as the present value of all cash shortfalls 
discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial instrument. Cash shortfall represent the difference between 
cash flows due to the Group in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive. The 
key elements in the measurement of ECL include probability of default (PD), loss given default (LGD) and exposure 
at default (EAD). The Group estimates these elements using appropriate credit risk models taking into consideration 
the internal and external credit ratings of the assets, nature and value of collaterals, forward looking macro-economic 
scenarios etc. 

The Group has applied simplified approach to impairment for trade and other assets as permitted under the standard. 
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted 
for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment. 

5  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

5.13	 Financial instruments (continued)

5.13.5   Classification and subsequent measurement of financial liabilities

The Group’s financial liabilities include trust certificates issued, borrowings, leasing creditors, due to banks, trade 
payables and other liabilities and derivative financial instruments. 

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows:
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Financial liabilities at amortised cost

These are stated at amortised cost using effective interest rate method. The Group categorises financial liabilities other 
than at FVTPL into the following categories:

Borrowings •	

All borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Gains and losses 
are recognised in the consolidated statement of income when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the 
effective interest rate method (EIR) amortisation process.

Bonds •	

Bonds are stated on the consolidated statement of financial position at their principal amount, net of directly related 
costs of issuing the bonds to the extent that such costs have not been amortised. These costs are amortised through 
the consolidated statement of profit or loss over the life of the bonds using the effective interest rate method.

Finance cost is charged as an expense as it accrues, with unpaid amounts included in accounts payable and other 
liabilities. 

Wakala payables•	

Wakala payables represent short-term borrowings under Islamic principles, whereby the Group receives funds for the 
purpose of financing its investment activities and are stated at amortised cost.

Murabaha finance payables•	

Murabaha finance payables represent amounts payable on a deferred settlement basis for assets purchased under 
murabaha arrangements.  Murabaha finance payables are stated at the gross amount of the payable, net of deferred 
finance cost. Deferred finance cost is expensed on a time apportionment basis taking into account the borrowing rate 
attributable and the balance outstanding.

Ijara financing •	

Ijara finance payable ending with ownership is an Islamic financing arrangement through which a financial institution 
provides finance to purchase an asset by way of renting the asset ending with transferring its ownership.  This ijara finance 
payable is stated at the gross amount of the payable, net of deferred finance cost. Deferred finance costs are expensed 
on a time apportionment basis taking into account the borrowing rate attributable and the balance outstanding.

Leasing and hire purchase payables•	

Assets acquired under finance leases and hire purchase arrangements are capitalised and the related liabilities, 
excluding finance charges are included in liabilities. Finance charges in respect of such liabilities are charged to the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss as incurred.

5  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

5.13	 Financial instruments (continued)

5.13.5  Classification and subsequent measurement of financial liabilities (continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (continued)

Accounts payables and other financial liabilities•	

Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods or services received, whether billed by the 
supplier or not, and classified as trade payables.  Financial liabilities other than at FVTPL which are not categorised 
under any of the above are classified as “Other financial liabilities”
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All derivative financial instruments that are not designated and effective as hedging instruments are accounted for at 
FVTPL.

All interest-related charges and, if applicable, changes in an instrument’s fair value that are reported in profit or loss, 
are included within finance costs or other income.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are either held for trading or designated as such on initial recognition.

Financial liabilities held for trading or designated at FVTPL, are carried subsequently at fair value with gains or losses 
recognised in profit or loss. All derivative financial instruments that are not designated and effective as hedging 
instruments are accounted for at FVTPL.

Derivative financial instruments 

Where the Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as interest rate to mitigate its risks associated with interest 
rate fluctuations, such derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value on the date 
on which a derivative contract is entered into, and are subsequently re-measured at fair value.  The fair value of a 
derivative is the equivalent of the unrealised gain or loss from marking to market the derivative using valuation quotes 
provided by financial institutions, based on prevailing market information. Derivatives, if any, are carried as assets when 
the fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.  The Group does not adopt hedge accounting, 
and any realised and unrealised (from changes in fair value) gain or losses are recognised directly in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss. 

5.13.6  Amortised cost of financial instruments

This is computed using the effective interest method less any allowance for impairment. The calculation takes into 
account any premium or discount on acquisition and includes transaction costs and fees that are an integral part of the 
effective interest rate.

5.13.7  Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement of financial 
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle 
on a net basis, to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

5.13.8  Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active markets at each reporting date is determined by reference 
to quoted market prices or dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price for short positions), without 
any deduction for transaction costs. 

5  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

5.13	 Financial instruments (continued)

5.13.8  Fair value of financial instruments (continued)

For financial instruments not traded in an active market, the fair value is determined using appropriate valuation 
techniques. Such techniques may include using recent arm’s length market transactions; reference to the current fair 
value of another instrument that is substantially the same; a discounted cash flow analysis or other valuation models.

An analysis of fair values of financial instruments and further details as to how they are measured are provided in 
Note 36.
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5.14	 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost includes all expenses directly attributable to 
the manufacturing process as well as suitable portions of related production overheads, based on normal operating 
capacity. Costs of ordinarily interchangeable items are assigned using the weighted average cost formula. 

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less any applicable selling 
expenses.

5.15	 Equity, reserves and dividend payments

Share capital represents the nominal value of shares that have been issued and paid up.

Share premium includes any premiums received on issue of share capital. Any transaction costs associated with the 
issuing of shares are deducted from share premium. 

Statutory and voluntary reserves comprise appropriations of current and prior period profits in accordance with the 
requirements of the companies’ law and the Parent Company’s Articles of Association. 

Other components of equity include the following:

foreign currency translation reserve – comprises foreign currency translation differences arising from the translation •	
of financial statements of the Group’s foreign entities into KD and the Group’s share of foreign currency translation 
reserves shown in the associates statement of financial position.

Cumulative changes in fair value – comprises gains and losses relating to financial assets at FVOCI •	

Retained earnings/accumulated losses include all current and prior period profit retained/(losses) incurred. All 
transactions with owners of the Parent Company are recorded separately within equity. 

Dividend distributions payable to equity shareholders are included in other liabilities when the dividends have been 
approved in a General Assembly meeting.

5.16	 Treasury shares

Treasury shares consist of the Parent Company’s own issued shares that have been reacquired by the Group and 
not yet reissued or cancelled. The treasury shares are accounted for using the cost method. Under this method, the 
weighted average cost of the shares reacquired is charged to a contra account in equity. 

When the treasury shares are reissued, gains are credited to a separate account in equity, (the “gain on sale of treasury 
shares reserve”), which is not distributable. Any realised losses are charged to the same account to the extent of the 
credit balance on that account. Any excess losses are charged to retained earnings then to the voluntary reserve 
and statutory reserve. No cash dividends are paid on these shares. The issue of stock dividend shares increases the 
number of treasury shares proportionately and reduces the average cost per share without affecting the total cost of 
treasury shares.

5  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

5.17	 Provisions, contingent assets and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is 
probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required from the Group and amounts can be estimated reliably. 
Timing or amount of the outflow may still be uncertain.

Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure required to settle the present obligation, based on the most 
reliable evidence available at the reporting date, including the risks and uncertainties associated with the present 
obligation. Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement 
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is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. Provisions are discounted to their present values, 
where the time value of money is material.

Contingent assets are not recognised in the consolidated financial statements, but are disclosed when an inflow of 
economic benefits is probable.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position, but are disclosed unless the 
possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote.

5.18	 Foreign currency translation

5.18.1	 Functional and presentation currency

The consolidated financial statements are presented in currency Kuwait Dinar (KD), which is also the functional 
currency of the parent company. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in 
the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency.

5.18.2	 Foreign currency transactions and balances 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency of the respective Group entity, using the 
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions (spot exchange rate). Foreign exchange gains and losses 
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the re-measurement of monetary items denominated in 
foreign currency at year-end exchange rates are recognised in profit or loss. Non-monetary items are not retranslated 
at year-end and are measured at historical cost (translated using the exchange rates at the transaction date), except 
for non-monetary items measured at fair value which are translated using the exchange rates at the date when fair 
value was determined. Translation difference on non-monetary asset classified as, “fair value through profit or loss” 
is reported as part of the fair value gain or loss in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and “financial assets at 
FVOCI” are reported as part of the cumulative change in fair value reserve within other comprehensive income.

5.18.3	 Foreign operations 

In the Group’s financial statements, all assets, liabilities and transactions of Group entities with a functional currency 
other than the KD are translated into KD upon consolidation. 

On consolidation, assets and liabilities have been translated into KD at the closing rate at the reporting date. Goodwill 
and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity have been treated as assets and liabilities of 
the foreign entity and translated into KD at the closing rate. Income and expenses have been translated into KD at the 
average rate over the reporting period. Exchange differences are charged/credited to other comprehensive income 
and recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve in equity. On disposal/liquidation of a foreign operation, the 
related cumulative translation differences recognised in equity are reclassified to profit or loss and are recognised as 
part of the gain or loss on disposal/liquidation.

5  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

5.18	 Foreign currency translation (continued)

5.19	 End of service indemnity

The parent and its local subsidiaries provides end of service benefits to its employees.  The entitlement to these benefits 
is based upon the employees’ final salary and length of service, subject to the completion of a minimum service period 
in accordance with relevant labour law and the employees’ contracts.  The expected costs of these benefits are accrued 
over the period of employment. This liability, which is unfunded, represents the amount payable to each employee as a 
result of termination on the reporting date.
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In addition to the end of service benefits with respect to its Kuwaiti national employees, the Group also makes 
contributions to the Public Institution for Social Security calculated as a percentage of the employees’ salaries. The 
Group’s obligations are limited to these contributions, which are expensed when due.

5.20	 Pensions (related to the foreign subsidiaries)

Contributions are paid to both defined benefit and defined contribution pension schemes in accordance with the 
recommendations of independent actuaries and advisors. Contributions to defined contribution schemes are charged 
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss on an accrual basis.

In respect of defined benefit schemes a defined benefit liability (or asset) is recognised in the consolidated statement 
of financial position and it is calculated as the present value of the defined benefit obligation using the projected unit 
credit method plus any unrecognised actuarial gains or losses less any past service cost not recognised less the market 
value of the plan assets.

Pension expense is charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and is calculated as the aggregate of current 
service cost (using the projected unit credit method), a net interest cost on the discounted defined benefit obligation net 
of the expected return on plan assets, recognised past service costs and the effect of curtailments or settlements.

Actuarial gains or losses are recognised in full in other comprehensive income.

5.21	 Share-based Payment

Certain employees of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based payment transactions, whereby the 
employees render services in exchange for shares (“equity settled transactions”).

Equity-settled transactions

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured under the intrinsic value method. Under this method, 
the cost is determined by comparing the period end market value of the company’s shares with the issue price. The cost 
of equity settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which 
the performance conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the shares vest. 

5.22	 Taxation

5.22.1	 National Labour Support Tax (NLST)

NLST is calculated in accordance with Law No. 19 of 2000 and the Minister of Finance Resolutions No. 24 of 2006 at 
2.5% of taxable profit of the Group.  As per law, allowable deductions include, share of profits of listed associates and 
cash dividends from listed companies which are subjected to NLST. 

5  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

5.22	 Taxation (continued)

5.22.1	 National Labour Support Tax (NLST) (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2017, one of the subsidiaries of the Group has no liability towards NLST in line with 
agreement between The Islamic Republic of Pakistan and the State of Kuwait for the “avoidance of double taxation and 
the prevention of fiscal evasion with respect to taxes on income” which state that income source shall be taxed only in 
the Contracting State. 
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5.22.2	 Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement of Sciences (KFAS)

The contribution to KFAS is calculated at 1% of taxable profit of the Group in accordance with the modified calculation 
based on the Foundation’s Board of Directors’ resolution, which states that income from Kuwaiti shareholding associates and 
subsidiaries and transfer to statutory reserve should be excluded from profit for the year when determining the contribution.

5.22.3	 Zakat

Contribution to Zakat is calculated at 1% of the profit of the Group in accordance with the Ministry of Finance resolution 
No. 58/2007 effective from 10 December 2007.

For the year ended 31 December 2017 and 2018, the Parent Company has no liability towards NLST, KFAS and Zakat 
due to tax losses incurred. 

5.22.4	 Withholding taxes 

The Group is exempt from income taxation and withholding taxes in Kuwait. However, in some jurisdictions, investment 
income and capital gains are subject to withholding tax deducted at the source of the income. Withholding tax is a 
generic term used for the amount of withholding tax deducted of the source of the income and is not significant for 
the Group. The Group presents the withholding tax separately from the gross investment income in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss. For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash inflows from investments 
are presented net of withholding taxes, when applicable. 

5.22.5	 Taxation on overseas subsidiaries

Taxation on overseas subsidiaries is calculated on the basis of the tax rates applicable and prescribed according to the 
prevailing laws, regulations and instructions of the countries where these subsidiaries operate.

Deferred taxation is provided in respect of all temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised in respect of 
unutilised tax losses when it is probable that the loss will be used against future profits.

5.23	 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and bank 
balances, short-term deposits, murabaha and wakala investments and short term highly liquid investments maturing 
within three months from the date of inception less due to banks and blocked bank balances.

5.24	 Fiduciary assets

Assets held in trust or in a fiduciary capacity are not treated as assets of the Group and accordingly are not included in 
these consolidated financial statements.

5.25	 Related party transactions

Related parties are associates, major shareholders, board of directors, executive staff, their family members 
and the companies owned by them. All related party transactions are carried out with the approval of the Group’s 
management.

Significant management judgements and estimation uncertainty 6	

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amount of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent 
liabilities, at the end of the reporting period. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in 
outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in future periods.
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6.1	 Significant management judgments 

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following significant judgments, 
which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

6.1.1	Business model assessment

The Group classifies financial assets after performing the business model test (please see accounting policy for 
financial instruments sections in Note 5.13). This test includes judgement reflecting all relevant evidence including how 
the performance of the assets is evaluated and their performance measured and the risks that affect the performance 
of the assets. Monitoring is part of the Group’s continuous assessment of whether the business model for which the 
remaining financial assets are held continues to be appropriate and if it is not appropriate whether there has been a 
change in business model and so a prospective change to the classification of those assets.

6.1.2	Significant increase in credit risk

Estimated credit losses are measured as an allowance equal to 12-month ECL for stage 1 assets, or lifetime ECL for 
stage 2 or stage 3 assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when its credit risk has increased significantly since

initial recognition. IFRS 9 does not define “significant” increase. Therefore, assessment whether the credit risk of an 
asset has significantly increased the Group takes into account qualitative and quantitative reasonable and supportable 
forward looking information.

6.1.3	Classification of real estate 

Management decides on acquisition of a real estate whether it should be classified as trading or investment property. 
Such judgement at acquisition determines whether these properties are   subsequently measured at cost or net 
realisable value whichever is lower or fair value and if the changes in fair value of these properties are reported in the 
statement of profit or loss.

The Group classifies property as trading property if it is acquired principally for sale in the ordinary course of business. 
And if such properties are under development with an intention of being sold in future they are classified under trading 
properties under development.

The Group classifies property as investment property if it is acquired to generate rental income or for capital appreciation, 
or for undetermined future use. And if such properties are under development they are classified under investment 
properties under development.

6.1.4	Revenue recognition 

Revenue is measured based on the consideration which the Group expects to be entitled in a contract and is recognised 
when it transfers control of a product or service to a customer. The determination of whether the revenue recognition 
criteria as specified under IFRS 15 and in the revenue accounting policy explained in Note 5.6 are met requires 
significant judgement. 

6.1.5	Control assessment

When determining control, management considers whether the Group has the practical ability to direct the relevant 
activities of an investee on its own to generate returns for itself. The assessment of relevant activities and ability to use 
its power to affect variable return requires considerable judgement. 
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6   Significant management judgements and estimation uncertainty (continued)

6.1.	 Significant management judgments (continued)

6.1.6	Equity method accounting for entities in which the Group holds less than 20% of the 
voting rights 

Management has assessed the level of influence that the Group has over its material associate, Mabanee Company 
- KPSC and determined that it has significant influence even though the shareholding in this associate is below 20%, 
because of the factors mentioned in note 23.3. Consequently, this investment has been classified as an associate and 
has been accounted for using the equity method. 

6.2.	 Estimates uncertainty 

Information about estimates and assumptions that have the most significant effect on recognition and measurement of 
assets, liabilities, income and expenses is provided below. Actual results may be substantially different.

6.2.1	Impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets 

The Group determines whether goodwill and intangible assets are impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires 
an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in 
use requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash-generating unit and also 
to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

6.2.2.	Impairment of associates

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss 
on the Group’s investment in its associated companies, at each reporting date based on existence of any objective 
evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired. If this is the case the Group calculates the amount of 
impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value and recognises 
the amount in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

6.2.3.	Impairment of financial assets

Measurement of estimated credit losses involves estimates of loss given default and probability of default. Loss given 
default is an estimate of the loss arising in case of default by customer. Probability of default is an estimate of the 
likelihood of default in the future. The Group based these estimates using reasonable and supportable forward looking 
information, which is based on assumptions for the future movement of different economic drivers and how these 
drivers will affect each other.

During the year, the Group has recognised net impairment losses of KD1,280 thousand (2017: KD246 thousand) 
against loan and receivables.

6.2.4.	Useful lives of depreciable/amortisable assets

Management reviews its estimate of the useful lives of depreciable/amortisable assets at each reporting date, based on 
the expected utility of the assets. Uncertainties in these estimates relate to technical and other obsolescence that may 
change the utility of certain software, intangible assets and property, plant and equipment.

6   Significant management judgements and estimation uncertainty (Continued)

6.2.	 Estimates uncertainty (continued)
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6.2.5.	Impairment of inventories

Inventories are held at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  When inventories become old or obsolete, an 
estimate is made of their net realisable value.  For individually significant amounts this estimation is performed on an 
individual basis.  Amounts which are not individually significant, but which are old or obsolete, are assessed collectively 
and a provision applied according to the inventory type and the degree of ageing or obsolescence, based on historical 
selling prices.

Management estimates the net realisable values of inventories, taking into account the most reliable evidence available 
at each reporting date. The future realisation of these inventories may be affected by future technology or other market-
driven changes that may reduce future selling prices.

At the financial position date, gross inventories were KD38,005 thousand (2017: KD34,963 thousand), with provision 
for old and obsolete inventories of KD1,418 thousand (2017: KD1,769 thousand).  Any difference between the amounts 
actually realised in future periods and the amount expected will be recognised in the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss.

6.2.6.	Fair value of financial instruments

Management apply valuation techniques to determine the fair value of financial instruments where active market quotes 
are not available. This requires management to develop estimates and assumptions based on market inputs, using 
observable data that market participants would use in pricing the instrument. Where such data is not observable, 
management uses its best estimate. Estimated fair values of financial instruments may vary from the actual prices that 
would be achieved in an arm’s length transaction at the reporting date.

6.2.7.	Revaluation of investment properties

The Group carries its investment properties at fair value, with changes in fair value being recognised in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss. The Group engaged independent valuation specialists to determine fair values and the valuers 
have used valuation techniques to arrive at these fair values. These estimated fair values of investment properties may 
vary from the actual prices that would be achieved in a arm’s length transaction at the reporting date. 

6.2.8.	Defined benefits obligation

Management’s estimate of the defined benefit obligation is based on number of critical underlying assumption such 
as standard rates of inflation, mortality, discount rate and anticipation of future pension increases. Variation in these 
assumptions may significantly impact the defined benefit obligations and amount and the annual defined benefits 
expenses (as analysed in Note 33).

6.2.9.	Provision for foreign taxation

The Group has made provision for potential tax liabilities which may arise on foreign income. These provisions have 
been assessed based on information available to management as of the reporting date.  The actual liability which may 
or may not arise if and when the relevant tax authorities make an official assessment may substantially differ from the 
actual provision made (Note 26 b).

6.2.10. Contract revenue

Recognised amounts of service and related receivables reflect management’s best estimate of each contract’s outcome 
and stage of completion. For more complex contracts in particular, costs to complete and contract profitability are 
subject to significant estimation uncertainty.
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Subsidiary companies7	

7.1 Details of the Group’s material consolidated subsidiaries at the end of the reporting 
period are as follows:

Country of 
registration and 

place of business
Nature of business

Proportion 
of ownership 

interest 

31 Dec.
 2018

%

31 Dec. 
2017

%

Al Durra National Real Estate – KSC (Closed) Kuwait Real Estate 97* 97*

National Combined Industries Holding Company 
for Energy – KSC (Closed) Kuwait Investments 96* 96*

Pearl National Holding – KSC (Closed) Kuwait Investments 99* 99*

Economic Holding Company – KSC (Closed) Kuwait Investments 97* 97*

BI Group Plc United Kingdom Specialist Engineering 100 100

Proclad Group Limited UAE Specialist Engineering 100 100

Eagle Proprietary Investments Limited UAE Investments 100 100

Pearl  Offshore Enterprises Limited (note 7.3) BVI Investments Holdings 100 100

Denham Investment Limited Cayman Islands Investments 85 85

Ikarus Petroleum Industries Company – KSC 
(Closed) Kuwait Petroleum 72 72

National Industries Company -  KPSC Kuwait Industrial 51 51

Noor Financial Investment Company – KPSC Kuwait Investments 51 51

* The Group’s holding of these subsidiaries are 100% and the remaining stake is held by nominees on its behalf.

7.2 Subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests

The Group includes three subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests (NCI):

Name

Proportion of 
ownership interests 

and voting rights
held by the NCI

Profit allocated to NCI Accumulated NCI

31 Dec. 
2018

31 Dec. 
2017

31 Dec. 
2018

31 Dec. 
2017

31 Dec. 
2018

31 Dec. 
2017

KD ‘000 KD ‘000 KD ‘000 KD ‘000
Noor Financial Investment 
Company - KPSC (NFI) 49% 49% 10,732 505 48,092 47,333

National Industries Company - 
KPSC (NIC) 49% 49% 1,737 1,247 51,250 51,541

Ikarus Petroleum Industries 
Company – KSC (Closed) (IPI) 28% 28% 3,050 33 35,997 26,503

Individual immaterial 
subsidiaries with non-
controlling interests

107 242 8,323 4,750

15,626 2,027 143,662 130,127
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7	 Subsidiary companies (continued)

7.2 Subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests (continued)

Summarised financial information for the above subsidiaries, before intragroup eliminations, is set out below:

31 December 2018 31 December 2017

NFI NIC IPI NFI NIC IPI

KD ‘000 KD ‘000 KD ‘000 KD ‘000 KD ‘000 KD ‘000

Total assets 131,309 112,032 121,851 171,114 113,739 109,696

Total liabilities (61,713) (23,091) (10,581) (108,691) (23,578) (16,658)

Non-controlling interest (including 
NCI in the subsidiary’s statement of 
financial position)

(41,283) (46,794) (35,182) (40,567) (47,493) (25,678)

Equity attributable to the 
shareholders of the Parent Company 28,313 42,147 76,088 21,856 42,668 67,360

Year ended 31 December 2018 Year ended 31 December 2017

NFI NIC IPI NFI NIC IPI

KD ‘000 KD ‘000 KD ‘000 KD ‘000 KD ‘000 KD ‘000

Revenue 48,971 54,791 15,821 28,063 45,809 2,183

Profit for the year 23,798 3,773 10,428 2,100 2,971 782

Other comprehensive (loss)/income 
for the year (13,602) (2,222) 2,051 (6,714) (33) (8,291)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) 
for the year 10,196 1,551 12,479 (4,614) 2,938 (7,509)

- attributable to the shareholders of 
the Parent Company 6,662 869 8,830 (1,834) 1,627 (5,437)

- attributable to NCI 3,534 682 3,649 (2,780) 1,311 (2,072)

Dividend paid to NCI - (1,397) - - (1,749) -

Net cash flow from/(used in) 
operating activities 6,098 4,697 32,525 2,709 9,668  (2,367)

Net cash flow from/(used in) investing 
activities 30,025 (3,305) (26,338) 5,429 (2,260)  3,737 

Net cash flow used in financing 
activities (39,318) (2,990) (11,322) (11,222) (4,169)  (683)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow (3,195) (1,598) (5,135) (3,084) 3,239  687 

7.3  Pearl Offshore Enterprises Limited is a special purpose vehicle (SPV) which was 
incorporated during the year 2011 and total assets with a carrying value of KD113,092 
thousand (2017: KD121,842 thousand) and total liabilities of KD73,085 thousand (2017: 
KD83,472 thousand) of the Parent Company are held by the SPV.
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7   Subsidiary companies (continued)

7.4 Acquisition of an indirect subsidiary 

During the year, the one of the local subsidiaries of the Group acquired 60% equity stake in Middle East Chemicals 
Company Ltd – WLL (a Saudi Company operating in the basic chemicals sector) and the acquisition was accounted in 
accordance with IFRS 3 as follows:

31 March
2018 (unaudited)

KD ‘000

Total consideration 8,247
Value of non-controlling interests 5,893

14,140
Less : Recognized amounts of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
Bank balances and cash (net of due to banks) 6,154
Account receivables and other assets 1,303
Inventories 598
Property, plant and equipment 11,166
Borrowings (3,912)
Accounts payable and other liabilities (576)

Total identifiable net assets                                                              14,733
Negative goodwill (included under interest and other income) (593)

The initial accounting for the business combination is provisional due to its complexity, and will be adjusted retrospectively 
(if required) when the final purchase price allocation is completed during the one-year measurement period from the 
acquisition date.

The results of the newly acquired indirect subsidiary was consolidated to the Group’s results effective from 1 April 2018 
and the financial position as at 31 December 2018 was consolidated with the Group’s financial position as of that date 
based on management accounts. Accordingly, Middle East Chemicals Company Ltd – WLL as a subsidiary contributed 
revenue and profit of KD4,526 thousand and KD707 thousand to the net results of the Group respectively.

Income from investments8	

Year ended
31 Dec. 2018

Year ended 
31 Dec. 2017

KD ‘000 KD ‘000

Dividend income:

- From financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 8,345 806

- From financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 3,607 -

- From available for sale investments - 6,572

Profit on sale of available for sale investments - 18,124

Realised gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 4,487 1,342

Unrealised gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 28,163 7,726

Interest income on debt securities classified under financial assets at FVTPL 81 -

44,683 34,570
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Interest and other income9	

Year ended
31 Dec. 2018

  Year ended 
31 Dec. 2017

KD ‘000 KD ‘000
Interest/profit on bank balances, short term deposits, wakala investments 1,055 617
Gain on acquisition of subsidiary (negative goodwill) (Note 7.4) 593 -
Service income, management and placement fees 340 472
Discount on settlement of borrowings (Note 27 b) 17,041 2,063
Net gain relating to liquidated/disposed foreign subsidiaries* 1,732 -
Others 1,233 1,608

21,994 4,760

*The gain has mainly resulted from the net realisation of the positive foreign currency translation reserves which were 
booked in the previous years in equity with regard to the liquidated/disposed foreign subsidiaries. 

Net gain/(loss) on financial assets and financial liabilities10	

Net gain/(loss) on financial assets and financial liabilities, analysed by category, is as follows:

Year ended
31 Dec. 2018

  Year ended 
31 Dec. 2017

KD ‘000 KD ‘000
Financial assets at amortised cost (2017: loans and receivables):
- Interest/profit on bank balances and short term deposits 1,034 602
- Profit from wakala and sukuk investments 21 15
- Income from future trade customers (on accounts receivable and other assets) 7 55
- impairment in value of receivable and other assets (1,280) (246)
Financial assets at FVTPL:
- Realised gain 4,487 1,342
- Unrealised gain 28,163 7,726
- Dividend income 8,345 806
- Interest income on debt securities 81 -
Financial assets at FVOCI (2017: available for sale investments):
- recognised directly in other comprehensive income (including NCI share) (20,503) (11,186)
- recognised directly in consolidated statement of profit or loss as dividend 3,607 6,572
- recognised directly in consolidated statement of profit or loss as profit on sale - 6,680
- recycled from other comprehensive income to consolidated statement of 
profit or loss on impairment and disposal - 6,197

23,962 18,563
Financial liabilities at amortised cost:
- Borrowings and bonds (32,693) (31,412)
- Discount on settlement of borrowings 17,041 2,063

8,310 (10,786)
Net gain recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss 28,813 400
Net loss recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income (20,503) (11,186)

8,310 (10,786)
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  Finance costs11	

Finance costs mainly relate to due to banks, borrowings, bonds and lease creditors. All these financial liabilities are 
stated at amortized cost. 

In addition, finance costs for the current year include one of indirect subsidiaries management’s best estimate of accrued 
interest on an amount payable related to a court decision received against it, subsequent to the reporting date. 

  Taxation and other statutory contributions 12	

(a) Foreign taxation*

Taxation of subsidiaries

Year ended
31 Dec. 2018

  Year ended 
31 Dec. 2017

KD ‘000 KD ‘000

Current tax expense

Current year charge (1,201) (527)

Deferred tax (expenses)/income

Current year (expenses)/income (49) 39

(1,250) (488)

* Foreign taxation includes an amount of KD518 thousand charged (2017: KD482 thousand charged) by certain foreign 
subsidiaries which is calculated based on the tax law adopted in United Kingdom.

(b) KFAS, Zakat and NLST of local subsidiaries

Year ended
31 Dec. 2018

  Year ended 
31 Dec. 2017

KD ‘000 KD ‘000

Contributions to Kuwait Foundation for Advancement of Science  (KFAS) (310) (266)

Provision for Zakat (437) (285)

Provision for National Labour Support Tax (NLST) (516) (166)

(1,263) (717)

The contributions and provisions are on profit of local subsidiaries, whereas no contribution and provision for the Parent 
Company was recognised in the current year (2017: Nil) as the net taxable results attributable to the Parent Company 
was a loss.

  Profit for the year13	

Profit for the year is stated after charging:

Year ended 
31 Dec. 2018

  Year ended 
31 Dec. 2017

KD ‘000 KD ‘000

Staff costs 29,644 27,385

Depreciation and amortisation 7,419 6,727

Net provision reversal for obsolete and slow moving inventories (351) (74)

The number of staff employed by the Parent Company at 31 December 2018 was 61 (2017: 67).
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Basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to the owners of the Parent Company  14	

Earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to the owners of the Parent Company 
by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year as follows:

Year ended 
31 Dec. 2018

  Year ended 
31 Dec. 2017

Profit for the year attributable to the owners of the Parent Company (KD ‘000) 19,841 24,160

Weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year (excluding 
treasury shares) – shares 1,325,056,996 1,325,056,996

Basic and diluted earnings per share 15.0 Fils 18.2 Fils

  Cash and cash equivalents15	

Effective  
interest/profit 

rate %
31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

KD ‘000 KD ‘000

Bank balances and cash 0.25% - 0.62% 32,077 38,436

Short term deposits 2.5% - 2.75% 9,136 8,020

Due to banks (a) 4.5% - 6.0% (23,009) (22,315)

18,204 24,141

Less: Blocked balances (6) (219)

Cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of consolidated 
statement of cash flows 18,198 23,922

a) Due to banks include bank overdraft facilities utilised by one of the subsidiaries of the Group which are secured 
against short term deposits of KD610 thousand as at 31 December 2018 (2017: KD1,008 thousand).

  Wakala and sukuk investments16	

Effective profit rate % (per annum)

2018 2017
31 Dec.2018 31 Dec. 2017

KD ‘000 KD ‘000

Wakala investments

Placed with local Islamic banks 3% 1.37% 1,000 1,000

Sukuk investments 153 153

1,153 1,153

Wakala investments of KD14,324 thousand (31 December 2017: KD14,324 thousand) placed by a local subsidiary 
of the Group with a local Islamic investment company matured in the last quarter of 2008. The investee company 
defaulted on settlement of these balances on the maturity date. However, revised maturity dates were stipulated by the 
court. The investee company again defaulted the payment of 2nd, 3rd, 4th and 5th instalments due in June 2014, 2015, 
2016 and 2017 respectively. The subsidiary has initiated various legal cases against the investee company to recover 
these amounts. Full provision was made for receivable in accordance with the Central Bank of Kuwait provision rules.
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16  Wakala and sukuk investments (continued)

During the previous years, the one of the local subsidiaries of the Group assumed the financial and legal obligations on 
wakala investments of KD9,968 thousand (in violation of the Commercial Companies Law of 1960) that the subsidiary 
had placed with the above investment company as part of total wakala investments of KD14,324 thousand in a fiduciary 
capacity under a wakala agreement with certain related parties, despite having no such obligation under the wakala 
agreement. The subsidiary initiated legal proceedings against the parties to recover the amount including profits 
thereon. During the year 2014, the Court of Appeal had ordered the related parties to pay KD8,285 thousand with 7% 
of profit thereon to the subsidiary which was overturned by the Court of Cassation in favor of the related party during the 
year 2015. The subsidiary also initiated legal proceeding relating to the remaining amount of KD1,683 thousand against 
the related parties. During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Court of Appeal has ordered the related parties to 
pay KD1,683 thousand to the subsidiary and the related parties have appealed against the court decision.

  Accounts receivable and other assets17	

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

KD ‘000 KD ‘000

Financial assets

Net trade receivables 29,857 26,514

Amounts due on sale of investments - 5,420

Amounts due on disposal of an associate (Note 23.5) - 43,028

Due from related parties (Note 17 b and 35) 6,866 6,740

Interest and other accrued income 1,168 1,267

Retentions and refundable deposits 1,026 961

Other financial assets 6,158 6,518

45,075 90,448

Non-financial assets

Prepayments and other assets 4,378 5,459

4,378 5,459

49,453 95,907

a)   Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and generally on 30 to 120 days terms.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit 
losses on trade receivables. The loss rates are based on days past due for groupings of different debtor segments 
with similar loss patterns. The calculation also considers the past default experience of the debtor, current and 
forward-looking factors affecting the debtor’s ability to settle the amount outstanding, general economic condition 
of the industry in which the debtor operates and an assessment of both current as well as the forecast direction of 
conditions at the reporting date. 

Trade receivables are written off (i.e. derecognised) when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery.

As at 31 December the aging analysis of trade receivables is as follows:
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31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

KD ‘000 KD ‘000

Neither past due nor impaired 19,501 21,658

Past due but not impaired

- 31 – 90 days 5,552 654

- more than 90 days 4,804 4,202

Total trade receivables 29,857 26,514

17  Accounts receivable and other assets (continued)

b)  This includes an amount of USD14mn equivalent to KD4,253 thousand (2017: USD6mn equivalent to KD1,814 
thousand) loan provided by a foreign subsidiary of the Group to a related party who is a US based real estate 
developer. The loan carries fixed interest rate of 8.5% and is receivable, at the latest by 3 April 2021. As of the reporting 
date, the above subsidiary is committed to provide a further USD1mn (2017: USD 9mn) to the developer.

c)   During the year, the Group recognised a net impairment loss of KD1,280 thousand (2017: KD246 thousand) against 
trade and other receivables.

  Inventories 18	

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

KD ‘000 KD ‘000

Finished goods and work-in-progress 18,158 16,490

Raw materials and consumables 15,091 12,986

Spare parts and others 3,705 3,652

Goods in transit 1,051 1,835

38,005 34,963

Provision for obsolete and slow moving inventories (1,418) (1,769)

36,587 33,194

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss19	

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

KD ‘000 KD ‘000

Local quoted shares 147,920 18,099

Foreign quoted shares 66,573 6,829

Unquoted equity participations 21,642 -

Quoted debt securities (held in managed portfolios) 1,299 -

Local funds 2,508 5,334

Foreign managed portfolios and funds 124,771 44,518

364,713 74,780

Quoted shares and managed funds, held by the Group, with a fair value of KD151,276 thousand (2017: KD131,205 a)	

thousand including investments previously classified under available for sale investments) are secured against 
borrowings (Note 27).
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Foreign managed portfolios and funds include investments in private equity funds with a carrying value of b)	

KD122,626 thousand (2017: KD33,372 thousand). Information for these investments is limited to periodic financial 
reports provided by the investment managers.  These investments are carried at net asset values reported by the 
investment managers. Due to the nature of these investments, the net asset values reported by the investment 
managers represent the best estimate of fair values available for these investments.

  Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income20	

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

KD ‘000 KD ‘000

Local quoted shares 10,220 -

Foreign quoted shares 35,634 -

Local unquoted equity participations 23,651
Foreign unquoted equity participations 117,403
Foreign managed portfolios and funds 29,577 -

216,485 -

a)   These investments are held in equity instruments for medium - to long-term strategic objectives. Accordingly, the 
management has chosen to identify these investments in equity instruments as financial assets at fair value through 
other comprehensive income where it is believed that the recognition of short-term fluctuations in the fair value of 
these financial assets in the consolidated statement of profit or loss will not be consistent with the Group’s strategy 
to hold such investments for long-term purposes and realizing their performance potential in the long term.

b)   Quoted shares with a fair value of KD32,651 thousand (Available for sale investments at 31 December 2017: 
KD38,955 thousand) and unquoted shares with a fair value of KD168 thousand (Available for sale investments at 
31 December 2017: KD6,888 thousand) are secured against bank borrowings (Note 27).

c)    During the year 2016, the Group signed a conditional agreement with a foreign party to sell 10.45% shareholding in 
K-Electric Company, one of the Pakistani listed companies involved in the generation, transmission and distribution 
of electricity. The above shares are held through certain subsidiaries of the Group and have been recorded under 
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (previously classified under available for sale 
investments). However, the completion of the sale contemplated in the conditional agreement is further extended 
during the previous year until the receipt of applicable regulatory approvals and satisfaction of other conditions 
precedent specified therein and therefore profit or loss expected from the above sale has not yet been determined.

  Available for sale investments21	

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

KD ‘000 KD ‘000

Foreign managed funds - 110,527

Local unquoted equity participations - 39,389

Foreign unquoted equity participations - 143,844

Local quoted shares - 110,204

Foreign quoted shares - 121,238

- 525,202

The Group has applied, for the first time, IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” as described in Note 4.1 effective from 1 
January 2018. Accordingly, the management of the Group has re-classified its existing available for sale investments 
as described in Note 4.1.
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  Investment properties22	

The movement in investment properties is as follows:

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

KD ‘000 KD ‘000

Fair value as at 1 January 66,121 64,294

Additions 10,711 7,493

Disposal - (2,200)

Changes in fair value 34 (3,455)

Foreign currency translation (9) (11)

76,857 66,121

Investment properties comprise of lands and buildings in the following countries:

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

KD ‘000 KD ‘000

Kuwait 57,666 52,365

Saudi 6,579 6,071

Jordan 504 501

UAE 11,264 6,267

London 844 917

Total 76,857 66,121

a)   Investment properties are stated at fair value, which has been determined based on valuations performed by 
independent valuers (Note 36.4 for details).

b)  Investments properties amounting to KD50,482 thousand (2017: KD44,728 thousand) are secured against 
borrowings (Note 27).

c)    At the reporting date, a property located in Kuwait with a carrying value of KD17,046 thousand (2017: KD11,470 
thousand) is under development. During the year borrowing cost of KD352 thousand (2017: KD481 thousand) 
has been capitalised for properties which are under development. Two other properties in UAE and KSA with a 
carrying value of KD10,752 thousand and KD1,786 thousand (2017: KD4,278 thousand and KD1,290  thousand) 
respectively are also being developed.

 Investment in associates23	

Details of the Group’s material associates at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Country of 
registration and 
principal place 

of business

Nature of 
business

Percentage ownership

31 Dec. 
2018

31 Dec. 
2017

Meezan Bank Ltd – (Quoted) Pakistan Islamic banking 38 49

Privatization Holding Company – KPSC (Quoted) Kuwait Financial services 36 36

Kuwait Cement Company – KPSC (Quoted) Kuwait Industrial 26 26

Mabanee Company - KPSC - (Quoted) (23.3) Kuwait Real estate 18 18
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23  Investment in associates (continued)

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

KD ‘000 KD ‘000

Balance at 1 January (previously reported) 336,045 350,540

Adjustments arising from adoption of IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018 (Note 4.1) (1,153) -

Balance as at 1 January 2018 – restated 334,892 350,540

Additions during the year 2,107 5,558

Share of results 15,182 19,035

Disposal/capital reduction (Note 23.5) (12,993) (28,388)

Share of other comprehensive income (346) 3,368

Dividend distribution (9,984) (9,376)

Foreign currency translation adjustment (11,485) (4,376)

Other adjustments 89 (316)

Balance at the end of the year 317,462 336,045

23.1 All of the above named associates are accounted for using the equity method in these consolidated financial 
statements.

23.2 A major portion of an associate with a carrying value of KD145,977 thousand (2017: KD148,644 thousand) is 
kept in a custody portfolio account with specialised institution (Note 27 d ).

23.3 Although the Group owns 18% of the investee, the Group exercises significant influence over the associate 
by way of board representation.

23.4 Investment in associates includes quoted associates with a carrying value of KD299,573 thousand (2017: 
KD316,573 thousand) having quoted market value of KD280,921 thousand at 31 December 2018 (2017: 
KD308,711 thousand) based on published quotes. In accordance with IAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” the 
Group’s recoverable amount of these associates (which represent the higher of fair value less costs to sell, 
and value in use) was in excess of their carrying values and accordingly no impairment was recognized 
against these investments during the year ended 31 December 2018.

23.5 During the year, one of the local subsidiaries of the Group partially disposed (11% out of its holding of 49% 
at 31 December 2017) one of its foreign associates (Meezan Bank Ltd.) for a consideration of KD20,797 
thousand resulting in a net gain of KD4,197 thousand (including the recycling of previously recognised Group’s 
share of the said associate’s foreign currency translation reserve of KD4,514 thousand to the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss). 

During the previous year, the Group disposed one of its foreign associates (Airport International Group P.S.C.) 
with a carrying value of KD27,227 thousand in which the Group held 24%. Accordingly the Group has recognised 
a net gain of  KD17,504 thousand (including the recycling of previously recognised Group’s share of the said 
associate’s other comprehensive income of KD1,703 thousand to the consolidated statement of profit or loss) on 
disposal of the associate in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2017 and 
the net proceeds on disposal amounting to KD43,028 thousand was due and included in accounts receivable and 
other assets as of 31 December 2017. During the year, the Group has received the proceeds fully.
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23  Investm
ent in associates (continued)

23.6 Sum
m

arised financial inform
ation of m

aterial associates
S

um
m

arised financial inform
ation in respect of each of the G

roup’s m
aterial associates nam

ed above, are set out below
. The sum

m
arised financial inform

ation below
 

represents the am
ounts presented in the financial statem

ents of the associates (and not the G
roups share of those am

ounts) adjusted for differences in accounting 
policies betw

een the G
roup and the associate.

M
abanee C

om
pany – 

K
P

S
C

*
K

uw
ait C

em
ent 

C
om

pany – K
P

S
C

M
eezan B

ank Ltd.
 P

rivatization H
olding 

C
om

pany – K
P

S
C

2018
2017

2018
2017

2018
2017

2018
2017

K
D

 ‘000
K

D
 ‘000

K
D

 ‘000
K

D
 ‘000

K
D

 ‘000
K

D
 ‘000

K
D

 ‘000
K

D
 ‘000

A
s at 31 D

ecem
ber

Total assets
1,271,000

1,239,733
301,912

305,743
2,041,717

2,142,390
133,540

153,355
Total liabilities

(377,361)
(359,172)

(108,754)
(108,323)

(1,947,242)
(2,037,693)

(46,855)
(53,121)

N
on-controlling interests

(61,325)
(61,169)

(145)
(144)

(2,182)
(2,748)

(907)
(1,804)

E
quity attributable to the ow

ners of the associate
832,314

819,392
193,013

197,276
92,293

101,949
85,778

98,430
For the year ended 31 D

ecem
ber

R
evenue 

31,044
44,891

96,259
97,257

105,428
98,388

8,108
8,215

P
rofit/(loss) for the year attributable to shareholders

23,332
39,421

7,943
17,191

19,420
15,315

(5,351)
3,069

O
ther com

prehensive (loss)/incom
e for the year 

(1,249)
(776)

2,760
3,476

(1,883)
(4,821)

(427)
1,894

Total com
prehensive incom

e/(loss) for the year
22,083

38,645
10,703

20,667
17,537

10,494
(5,778)

4,963
D

ividends received from
 the associate during the year

1,669
1,567

3,797
3,797

2,913
3,812

1,190
-

A
s at 31 D

ecem
ber

Net assets of the associate attributable to the shareholders of the associate
832,314

819,392
193,013

197,276
92,293

101,949
85,778

98,430
P

roportion of the G
roup’s ow

nership interest
17.88%

17.68%
26.10%

25.89%
38.18%

49.11%
35.82%

35.82%
Interest in the associate

148,818
144,869

50,376
51,075

35,240
50,067

30,726
35,258

G
oodw

ill
10,496

10,496
14,893

14,893
5,229

8,637
-

-
O

ther adjustm
ents 

87
402

5,830
4,142

-
-

(3,663)
(5,883)

C
arrying value of the investm

ent
159,400

155,767
71,099

70,110
40,469

58,704
27,063

29,375

Fair value of the G
roup’s interests in the quoted associates w

hich 
are based on the quoted m

arket prices available on the respective 
Stock Exchanges, w

hich are Level 1 Inputs in term
s of IFR

S 13. 
106,574

116,448
72,537

84,482
89,421

95,481
11,407

11,143

*H
as been adjusted for the differences in accounting policies betw

een G
roup and the associate.
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23	 Investment in associates (continued)

23.6 Summarised financial information of material associates (continued)

Aggregate information of associates that are not individually material to the Group;

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

KD ‘000 KD ‘000

Group share of results for the year 3,439 (1,005)

Group share of comprehensive income 29 4,294

Group share of total comprehensive income 3,468 3,289

Aggregate carrying value of the Group interest in associates 19,431 22,089

Aggregate dividend received from the associates during the year 415 200

23.7 Group’s share of associates’ contingent liabilities:

a)  The Group’s share of associates’ contingent liabilities amounted to KD138,695 thousand (2017: KD154,631 
thousand). This includes the Group’s share of contingent liabilities related to a foreign bank (Meezan Bank Ltd.) 
which amounted to KD102,696 thousand (2017: KD110,995 thousand).

b)    The local income tax authority in Pakistan has raised a demand requesting Mezzan Bank Limited, an associate of 
one of the subsidiaries of the Group, to pay additional tax amounting to KD3.9 million (Subsidiary’s share KD1.5 
million) for prior years including 2017. The associate has obtained a stay order against this demand and has also 
filed appeals with the relevant Appellate Authorities. Subsidiary’s management, in consultation with tax advisors, is 
confident that the decision is respect of this matter would be in subsidiary’s favour and, accordingly, no provision 
is made in these consolidated financial statements with respect thereto.
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Property, plant and equipm
ent

24	

Year ended 31 D
ecem

ber 2018

Land

Freehold 
properties

Leasehold 
properties

Properties on 
leasehold land

Plant and 
machineries

Motor vehicles

Furniture and 
equipment

Leased plant, 
machinery and 

vehicles

Properties
under 

construction

Total

K
D

 ‘000
K

D
 ‘000

K
D

 ‘000
K

D
 ‘000

K
D

 ‘000
K

D
 ‘000

K
D

 ‘000
K

D
 ‘000

K
D

 ‘000
K

D
 ‘000

C
ost or valuation

A
t 1 January 2018

 1,463 
 20,214 

 618 
 35,325 

 95,262 
 13,066 

 13,428 
 2,780 

 5,074 
187,230 

Foreign exchange adjustm
ents

 7 
 (67)

 (8)
 11 

 (696)
 (7)

 9 
 (143)

 1 
 (893)

A
dditions/transfer 

 - 
 204 

 9 
 176 

 7,096 
 2,388 

 210 
 - 

 2,662 
 12,745 

O
n acquisition of an indirect subsidiary (Note 7.4)

 2,183 
 1,460 

 - 
 - 

 10,346 
 43 

 748 
 - 

 153 
 14,933 

R
eclassification 

 - 
 90 

 - 
 - 

 16 
 -   

 39 
-

 (145)
 -   

D
isposals

 - 
 - 

 (11)
-

 (2,143)
 (16)

 (75)
-

 - 
 (2,245)

A
t 31 D

ecem
ber 2018

3,653
21,901

608
35,512

109,881
15,474

14,359
2,637

7,745
211,770

Accum
ulated depreciation and im

pairm
ent losses

A
t 1 January 2018

 - 
 5,428 

 73 
 25,629 

 60,313 
 11,243 

 10,298 
 1,932 

 - 
114,916 

Foreign exchange adjustm
ents

 - 
 (72)

 (2)
 3 

 (606)
 (5)

 (15)
 (104)

 - 
 (801)

C
harge for the year

 - 
 829 

 14 
 737 

 3,845 
 674 

 971 
 121 

 - 
 7,191 

O
n acquisition of an indirect subsidiary (Note 7.4)

 - 
 434 

 - 
 - 

 3,099 
 24 

 210 
 - 

 - 
 3,767 

R
elating to disposals

 - 
 - 

 (9)
 - 

 (2,080)
 (16)

 (74)
-

 - 
 (2,179)

A
t 31 D

ecem
ber 2018

 -   
 6,619 

 76 
 26,369 

 64,571 
 11,920 

 11,390 
 1,949 

 -   
122,894 

N
et book value

A
t 31 D

ecem
ber 2018

3,653
15,282

532
9,143

45,310
3,554

2,969
688

7,745
88,876

P
roperties on lease hold land are on lands w

hich have been leased from
 the governm

ent of K
uw

ait through renew
able lease contracts.

Property under construction m
ainly represents the cost incurred, on the expansion of one of the subsidiaries existing factories and the construction of a m

anufacturing lines by 
a subsidiary. D

uring the prior years, portions of the m
anufacturing lines w

hich w
ere com

pleted and ready for intended use w
ere capitalised in the appropriate categories. The 

costs relating to the rem
aining m

anufacturing lines and facilities w
ill be transferred to the appropriate asset categories w

hen the assets are ready for their intended use. 
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24	
Property, plant and equipm

ent (continued)

Year ended 31 D
ecem

ber 2017

Land

Freehold 
properties

Leasehold 
properties

Properties on 
leasehold land

Plant and 
machineries

Motor vehicles

Furniture and 
equipment

Leased plant, 
machinery and 

vehicles

Properties 
under 

construction

Total

K
D

 ‘000
K

D
 ‘000

K
D

 ‘000
K

D
 ‘000

K
D

 ‘000
K

D
 ‘000

K
D

 ‘000
K

D
 ‘000

K
D

 ‘000
K

D
 ‘000

C
ost or valuation

A
t 1 January 2017

1,483
18,619

598
35,249

91,579
12,812

13,210
2,567

2,540
178,657

Foreign exchange adjustm
ents

(20)
69

10
(32)

1,856
20

15
189

-
2,107

A
dditions/transfer/consolidation of new

 
subsidiaries 

-
402

4
137

4,220
327

235
24

2,534
7,883

R
eclassification 

-
1,124

6
-

(1,130)
-

-
-

-
-

D
isposals

-
-

-
(29)

(1,263)
(93)

(32)
-

-
(1,417)

A
t 31 D

ecem
ber 2017

1,463
20,214

618
35,325

95,262
13,066

13,428
2,780

5,074
187,230

A
ccum

ulated depreciation and im
pairm

ent 
losses
A

t 1 January 2018
-

4,704
51

24,891
56,310

10,642
9,563

1,659
-

107,820

Foreign exchange adjustm
ents

-
3

10
(9)

1,824
19

(6)
127

-
1,968

C
harge for the year

-
721

12
765

3,415
650

773
146

-
6,482

R
elating to disposals

-
-

-
(18)

(1,236)
(68)

(32)
-

-
(1,354)

A
t 31 D

ecem
ber 2017

-
5,428

73
25,629

60,313
11,243

10,298
1,932

-
114,916

N
et book value

A
t 31 D

ecem
ber 2017

1,463
14,786

545
9,696

34,949
1,823

3,130
848

5,074
72,314
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  Goodwill and other intangible assets25	

25.1	 Goodwill

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

KD <000 KD <000

Balance at 1 January 11,364 10,708

Additions - 83

Impairment in value of goodwill (2,468) -

Foreign exchange adjustment (334) 573

8,562 11,364

Goodwill represents the excess of cost of acquisition over the Group’s interest in the fair value of the identifiable assets 
and liabilities of the acquired subsidiaries. Goodwill of KD2,029 thousand (2017: KD2,029 thousand) and KD6,533 
thousand (2017: KD9,335 thousand) has been allocated to the IT service business and specialist engineering unit of 
the Group, respectively as these are the cash generating unit (CGU) which is expected to benefit from the synergies of 
the business combination. It is also the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for impairment purposes. 

Impairment testing

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the 
recoverable amount of the CGUs to which these items are allocated. The recoverable amount is determined based on 
higher of value-in-use calculations or fair value less cost to sell.

Management used the following approach to determine values to be assigned to the following key assumptions in the 
value in use calculations:

Key assumption Basis used to determine value to be assigned to key assumption

Growth rates Anticipated average growth rate of 0% to 4% (2017: 0% to 3%) per annum. Value assigned reflects 
past experience and changes in economic environment. 
Cash flows beyond the five-year period have been extrapolated using a growth rate of 0% to 4% 
(2017: 0% to 3%). This growth rate does not exceed the long term average growth rate of the market 
in which the CGU operates.

Discount rates Discount rates of 6.4% to 17.5% (2017: 3.5% to 17%). Discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect 
specific risks relating to the relevant CGU.

The Group has performed a sensitivity analysis by varying these input factors by a reasonably possible margin and 
assessing whether the change in input factors result in any of the goodwill allocated to appropriate cash generating 
units being impaired. During the year, the Group recognised an impairment of KD2,468 thousand against goodwill 
which has been allocated to the specialist engineering unit of the Group. Based on the above analysis, there are no 
indications that goodwill included in any of the cash generating units is further impaired.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
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25	 Goodwill and other intangible assets (continued)

25.2	 Intangible assets – Indefeasible right of use (IRU) 
This represents an intangible asset in the form of an indefeasible right of use (IRU) to a telecommunication asset arising 
from a subsidiary acquired during 2014 and the movement is as follows:

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017
KD ‘000 KD ‘000

Cost 
At the beginning of the year 3,268 3,631
Disposal of intangible assets - (363)
Balance at the end of the year 3,268 3,268

Accumulated amortization and impairment
At the beginning of the year (511) (314)
Impairment in value of intangible assets* (1,166) -
Relating to disposal - 48
Charge for the year (228) (245)
At the end of the year (1,905) (511)
Net book value at the end of the year 1,363 2,757
Total goodwill and intangible assets 9,925 14,121

* During the year, the management has performed an impairment assessment of the intangible assets and as a result 
recognised an impairment of KD1,166 thousand (2017: Nil) based on the recoverable value of the intangible assets 
based on fair value approach. 

  Accounts payable and other liabilities26	

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017
KD ‘000 KD ‘000

Financial liabilities
Trade payables 19,409 18,954
Accrued interest 2,206 2,031
Dividend payable 1,300 754
Leasing creditors 72 156
Payable on acquisition of subsidiary 1,517 1,509
Due to related parties (Note 35) 2,114 1,512
Provision for cost of gas usage for previous years (a) 2,700 2,700
Provision for taxation (b) 11,274 6,911
Staff payables 2,831 2,095
Deferred consideration on acquisition of new subsidiaries - 1,179
Amounts due to non-controlling interests on capital reduction of a subsidiary 1,088 883
Other accruals 5,331 3,487
Other liabilities 7,260 5,322

57,102 47,493
Non-financial liabilities
Other creditors 1,575 898

1,575 898
58,677 48,391
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26	 Accounts payable and other liabilities (continued)

a)    This represents provision for cost of gas usage by one of the local subsidiaries of the Group amounting to KD2,700 
thousand. During the year 2016, above subsidiary received a letter from a government owned entity which supplies 
gas to one of the factories of the subsidiary demanding payment for usage of gas for 2004 till 2011. The subsidiary 
rejected this claim on several grounds and the supplier filed a legal case against the subsidiary claiming its right to 
recover the amount. The court in its first hearing transferred the case to the Expert’s department. Subsequently, the 
court issued a ruling ordering the subsidiary to pay an amount of USD9,300 thousand to the plaintiff. Accordingly, 
the subsidiary recorded a provision against this liability during the year ended 31 December 2016. Further, the 
subsidiary appealed the ruling and the judgment is still pending.

b)   This includes an amount of KD1,578 thousand potential tax liability of one of the local subsidiaries of the Group 
on dividend income received in previous years from foreign entities located in a GCC country (at the rate of 5%). 
No tax claims or assessments have been made by any regulatory authority as of date. However, based on advice 
received from consultants and other information available to the subsidiary’s management, on a conservative 
basis, the Subsidiary provided for the above amount in a previous year.

Borrowings and bonds27	

Effective 
Interest rate 31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

KD ‘000 KD ‘000

Borrowings

Short term

Short term conventional loans 2.14% - 5.5% 161,103 104,506

Short term Islamic financing arrangements 4.25% - 6.0% 7,739 18,512

168,842 123,018

Long term

Long term conventional loans 1.4% - 5.9%

 - Current portion of long term conventional loans 89,804 228,990

 - Due after more than one year 214,402 145,666

Long term Islamic financing arrangements 4.0% - 6.0%

 - Current portion of long term Islamic financing arrangements 6,490 113,334

 - Due after more than one year 106,579 37,307

417,275 525,297

Total borrowings 586,117 648,315

Bonds (Note 27 g) 25,000 25,000

Total borrowings and bonds 611,117 673,315

a As of 31 December 2018, total borrowings include an amount of KD129,646 thousand and KD16,684 thousand 
(2017: KD114,975 thousand and KD4,076 thousand) denominated in US Dollars and other foreign currencies 
respectively.
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27	 Borrowings and bonds (continued)

b    During the year, one of the local subsidiary’s of the Group has completed restructuring of its loans amounting to 
KD23,129 thousand. As per restructuring agreement, an amount of KD560 thousand is payable within one year from 
the reporting date and remaining amount is repayable after one year. These restructured loans are fully secured 
by financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 
income, investment properties and against shares of two unlisted indirect subsidiaries of the Group.

      Additionally, during the fourth quarter of the current year, the local subsidiary has settled loans due to two lenders 
amounting to KD66,560 thousand (2017: KD6,875 thousand) against a payment of KD49,519 thousand (2017: 
KD4,812 thousand) with a 25.6% (2017: 30%) discount. The gain amounting to KD17,041 thousand (2017: 
KD2,063 thousand) which resulted from the waiver of the principal has been recognised under interest and other 
income during the year.

c    Islamic financing arrangement amounting to KD1,528 thousand (2017: KD2,317 thousand) are secured against 
property, plant and equipment with a book value of KD2,598 thousand (2017: KD2,746 thousand). Also, certain 
conventional loans of KD5,503 thousand (2017: KD4,590 thousand) are secured against property, plant and 
equipment with a book value of KD3,581 thousand (2017: KD5,011 thousand).

d    During the year, the Parent Company settled a Murabaha facility amounting to KD79,646 thousand at maturity, 
from the proceeds obtained through a new Murabaha facility of KD71,023 thousand and the remaining amount 
of KD8,623 thousand was settled in cash. The above new Murabaha facility is included under long term Islamic 
financing as of the reporting date. Under the terms of the new facility agreement, shares of one of the listed 
associates having a carrying value of KD145,977 thousand (2017: KD148,644 thousand) are kept in a custody 
portfolio account with specialised institutions (Note 23.2).

e    Borrowings include unsecured long term financing facilities obtained by one of the foreign indirect subsidiaries 
of the Group from a Saudi Islamic bank and a financial institution and the amount due within one year from the 
facilities amounted to KD1,707 thousand. The unutilised facility balances as of 31 December 2018 amounted to 
SAR119.1mn equivalent to KD9,635 thousand. During the year, the above borrowings have been secured by 
foreign quoted investments with a fair value of KD5,915 thousand.

f      Islamic financing arrangements includes Ijara payables of KD23,691 thousand (2017: KD22,324 thousand) which 
is secured against investment properties of local subsidiaries (Note 22).

Bonds
g   During the year 2016, the Parent Company issued a floating rate bonds of KD25,000 thousand at face value 

maturing on 20 December 2021. The bonds benefit from certain uncollateralized financial assets at fair value 
through other comprehensive income and investment in subsidiary through one of the local subsidiaries of the 
Group to ensure repayment.

Provisions28	

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

KD ‘000 KD ‘000

Pension liability (Note 33) 1,458 3,328

Provision for staff indemnity 11,664 11,429

Provision for land-fill expenses 451 400

13,573 15,157
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 Share capital and share premium29	

a)    As of 31 December 2018, authorized issued and fully paid share capital in cash of the Parent Company comprised 
of 1,359,853,075 shares of 100 Fils each (31 December 2017: 1,359,853,075 shares).

b)   Share premium is not available for distribution.

 Treasury shares30	

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

Number of shares 34,796,079 34,796,079

Percentage of issued shares 2.56% 2.56%

Market value (KD ‘000) 5,498 5,219

Cost (KD’000) 30,375 30,375

Reserves of the Parent Company equivalent to the cost of the treasury shares have been earmarked as non-
distributable.

As at 31 December 2018, an associate company o	 f the Group held 135,692,090 (2017: 135,692,090) shares 
equivalent to 10% (2017: 10%) of the Parent Company’s shares issued. 

Cumulative changes in fair value and other components of equity31	

a) Cumulative changes in fair value

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

KD ‘000 KD ‘000

Balance at 1 January (previously reported) 103,959 108,729

Adjustments arising on adoption of IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018 (Note 4.1) (64,220) -

Balance at 1 January (restated) 39,739 108,729

Other comprehensive income:

Net change in fair value of available for sale investments - (1,579)

Transferred to consolidated statement of profit or loss on disposal of 
available for sale of investments - (11,034)

Transferred to consolidated statement of  profit or loss on impairment in 
value of  available for sale investments - 5,026

Share of other comprehensive income of associates

- Changes in fair value (163) 4,520

- Transferred to consolidated statement of profit or loss on disposal (Note 
23.5) - (1,703)

Net changes in fair value of investments in equity instruments designated 
at FVOCI (18,912) -

Other comprehensive loss for the year (19,075) (4,770)

Realised gain on equity investments at FVOCI 1,015 -

Balance at 31 December 21,679 103,959
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31  Cumulative changes in fair value and other components of equity (continued)

b)  Other components of equity

Statutory 
reserve

General 
reserve

Gain on Sale 
 of treasury 

shares 
reserve

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

Total

KD ‘000 KD ‘000 KD ‘000 KD ‘000 KD ‘000

Balances as at 31 December 2017 12,853 1,694 18,452 (2,542) 30,457

Transactions with owners:

Dividend paid - (251) - - (251)

Other comprehensive income:

Currency translation differences - - - (10,862) (10,862)

Exchange differences transferred to consolidated 
statement of profit or loss on partial disposal of an 
associate

- - - 2,325 2,325

Other comprehensive income - - (8,537) (8,537)

Reserve transfers 2,158 - - - 2,158

Balances as at 31 December 2018 15,011 1,443 18,452 (11,079) 23,827

Balances at 31 December 2016 11,167 1,694 18,452 213 31,526

Other comprehensive income:

Currency translation differences - - - (2,755) (2,755)

Other comprehensive income - - - (2,755) (2,755)

Reserve transfers 1,686 - - - 1,686

Balances at 31 December 2017 12,853 1,694 18,452 (2,542) 30,457

Statutory reserve

In accordance with the Companies Law and the Parent Company’s Articles of Association, 10% of the profit for the 
year before KFAS, NLST, Zakat and directors’ remuneration but after Non-controlling interests is to be transferred 
to statutory reserve.  The Parent Company may resolve to discontinue such annual transfer when the reserve totals 
50% of the paid up share capital.  Distribution of the statutory reserve is limited to the amount required to enable the 
payment of a dividend of 5% of paid-up share capital to be made in years when retained earnings are not sufficient for 
the distribution of a dividend of that amount. No transfer is required in a year in which the Group has incurred a loss or 
where accumulated losses exist. During the year, the Group has transferred an amount of KD2,158 thousand (2017: 
KD1,686 thousand) to statutory reserve. 

General reserve

In accordance with the Parent Company’s Articles of Association, a certain percentage of the profit for the year before 
KFAS, NLST, Zakat and directors’ remuneration but after Non-controlling interests is to be transferred to the general 
reserve at the discretion of the Board of Directors which is to be approved at the General Assembly. No transfer is 
required in a year in which the Group has incurred a loss or where accumulated losses exist. During the year, the Board 
of Directors of the Parent Company do not propose any transfer to general reserve and this is subject to approval at 
the General Assembly.
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  Non-controlling interests32	

Year ended 
31 Dec. 2018

Year ended
31 Dec. 2017

KD ‘000 KD ‘000

Balance at 1 January (previously reported) 130,127 137,047

Adjustments arising on adoption of IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018 (Note 4.1) (481) -

Balance at 1 January (restated) 129,646 137,047

Amounts due to non-controlling interests on capital reduction of a subsidiary* (1,069) -

Non-controlling interests arising on acquisition of subsidiaries** 6,568 302

Dividend paid to non-controlling interests by the subsidiaries (1,655) (2,187)

Other net changes in non-controlling interests (228) (396)

Transactions with non-controlling interests 3,616 (2,281)

Profit for the year 15,626 2,027

Other comprehensive income :

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations (5,641) (1,915)

Exchange differences transferred to consolidated statement of profit or loss 
on partial disposal of an associate 2,189 -

Net change in fair value of available for sale investments - (3,410)

Transferred to consolidated statement of profit or loss on disposal of 
available for sale investments - (410)

Transferred to consolidated statement of profit or loss on impairment in 
value of  available for sale investments - 221

Share of other comprehensive loss of associates (183) (1,152)

Net changes in fair value of investments in equity instruments designated 
at FVOCI (1,591) -

Total other comprehensive loss for the year (5,226) (6,666)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 10,400 (4,639)

Balance at 31 December 143,662 130,127

*    On 18 December 2017, the shareholders of one of the indirect subsidiaries of the Group, decided to decrease 
its share capital from KD33,500 thousand to KD14,137 thousand (by KD19,363 thousand) by setting off of 
accumulated losses of KD17,113 thousand and distributing to shareholders an amount of KD2,250 thousand out 
of which KD1,069 thousand pertains to non-controlling interests and these transactions have been adjusted in the 
Group’s financials during the current year.  

**    During the year, certain subsidiaries of the Group have acquired certain local and foreign subsidiaries and non-
controlling interests arising on acquisition of those subsidiaries amounted to KD6,568 thousand. Further, acquisition 
of one of those subsidiaries resulted in a bargain purchase surplus (negative goodwill) of KD593 thousand which 
has been included under “interest and other income” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss (Note 7.4).
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  Defined benefit pensions schemes33	

The Group has defined benefit pension schemes for the employees and former employees of certain subsidiaries in 
the United Kingdom.  The Schemes provide benefits based on final salary and length of service on retirement.  The 
Schemes are subject to the Statutory Funding Objective under the United Kingdom Pensions Act 2004. A valuation of 
the schemes is carried out at least once every three years to determine whether the Statutory Funding Objective is met. 
As part of the process the Group must agree with the Trustees of the Schemes the contributions to be paid to address 
any shortfall against the Statutory Funding Objective.

The Schemes are managed by a professional trustee appointed by the Group.  The Trustee has responsibility for 
obtaining valuation of the fund, administering benefit payments and investing the Schemes’ assets.  The Trustee 
delegates some of these functions to their professional advisers where appropriate.

The Schemes expose the Group to a number of risks:

Investment risk: The Scheme holds investments in asset classes, such as equities, which have volatile market •	
values and while these assets are expected to provide the real returns over the long-term the short term volatility 
can cause additional funding to be required if deficit emerges.

Interest rate risk: The Schemes’ liabilities are assessed using market yields on high quality corporate bonds to •	
discount the liabilities.  As the Schemes hold assets such as equities the value of the assets and liabilities may not 
move in the same way.

Inflation risk: A significant proportion of the benefits under the Schemes are linked to inflation.  Although the •	
Schemes’ assets are expected to provide a good hedge against inflation over the long term, movements over the 
short-term could lead to deficits emerging.

Mortality risk: In the event that members live longer than assumed a deficit will emerge in the Schemes.•	

For certain sections of the Schemes, members are assumed to commute 20% of their pension for cash at retirement.  •	
If on average less pension is taken this would lead to a deficit emerging.

The Trustee holds insurance policies for some members of the Schemes. There is a very small risk that the •	
insurers may default on their policies which would cause additional funding to be required.

Effect of the Schemes on the Group’s future cash flows

The Group is required to agree Schedules of Contributions with the Trustee of the Schemes following the valuation which 
must be carried out at least once every three years.  In the event the valuation reveals a larger deficit than expected 
the Group may be required to increase contributions above those set out in the existing Schedules of Contributions. 
Conversely if the position is better than expected contributions may be reduced.

The Group expects to contribute KD593 thousand to its defined benefit plan in 2019 which has been agreed with the 
Pension Trustee in line with actuarial advice and aims to eliminate the deficit within an acceptable period of time.

The following disclosures cover all the schemes on an aggregated basis. The schemes are closed to new members 
and do not accrue further benefits. Actuarial calculations have been made in order to determine pension liabilities and 
pension expenses in connection with the Group’s defined benefit pension schemes.  
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33 	 Defined benefit pensions schemes (continued)

The following assumptions have been used in calculating the liabilities and expenses 
incurred:

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

Discount rate at 31 December 3.00% 2.80%

Inflation assumption (RPI) 3.45% 3.35%

Revaluation in deferment (CPI) 2.45% 2.35%

Expected return on plan assets 3.00% 2.80%

Future salary increases 0.00% 0.00%

Future pension increases 3.30% 3.35%

Mortality after retirement
2018: SAPS (S2NA) (2017: SAPS (S2NA)) tables with medium 
cohort year of birth projections and minimum of 1.25% (2017: 
1.25%) per annum improvement.

Under the mortality tables adopted, the expected age at death for a member at age 65 is as follows:

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

Male currently aged 45	 89.6 89.6

Female currently aged 45 90.7 91.9

Male currently aged 65 87.2 87.8

Female currently aged 65 89.2 90.0

The average of the weighted average duration of the liabilities of each of the Schemes is 18 years (2017: 16 years).

Consolidated statement of profit or loss

Year ended
31 Dec. 2018

Year ended 31 
Dec. 2017

KD ‘000 KD ‘000

Interest cost (602) (641)

Expected return on assets 526 562

Accrued expenses - (8)

Past service cost (530) -

Net annual charge included in general, administrative and other expenses  (606) (87)

A reconciliation of the movement in the liability for defined benefit pension scheme is as follows:

Consolidated statement of financial position

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

KD ‘000 KD ‘000

Brought forward liability 3,328 2,743

Consolidated statement of profit or loss (net) 606 87

Contributions (1,193) (639)

Actuarial (gain)/losses (1,202) 940

Foreign exchange adjustments (81) 197

Carried forward liability 1,458 3,328
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33 	 Defined benefit pensions schemes (continued)

Reconciliation of consolidated statement of financial position liability

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

KD ‘000 KD ‘000

Present value of obligations 18,968 22,095

Fair value of plan assets (17,510) (18,767)

Net plan deficit 1,458 3,328

Unrecognised actuarial losses - -

Net liability recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position 1,458 3,328

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

KD ‘000 KD ‘000

Opening defined benefit obligation 22,095 20,551

Corporate disposal - (583)

Interest cost 602 641

Actuarial (gains)/losses (1,465) 1,151

Accrued expenses - 8

Past service cost 530 -

Experience loss (792) -

Benefits and expenses paid (1,024) (1,021)

Foreign exchange adjustment (978) 1,348

Closing defined benefit obligation 18,968 22,095

Changes in the fair value of the plan assets

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

KD ‘000 KD ‘000

Opening fair value of plan assets 18,767 17,816

Expected return on assets 526 562

Actuarial (losses)/gains (1,055) 203

Contributions by employer 1,193 639

Benefits and expenses paid (1,024) (1,021)

Corporate disposal - (614)

Foreign exchange adjustment (897) 1,182

Closing fair value of plan assets 17,510 18,767
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The fair value of the plan assets, by category is as follows: 
31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

KD ‘000 KD ‘000

Plan assets:

Equities 8,755 8,820

Bonds 6,654 8,633

Other assets 2,101 1,314

17,510 18,767

The actual return on the Schemes’ assets net of expenses over the period was 2.8% (2017: 4.2%).

33 	 Defined benefit pensions schemes (continued)
Sensitivity of the value placed on liabilities

The defined benefit obligation would be affected by changes in the actuarial assumptions.  The table below shows the 
potential impact of relatively small changes in the key assumptions:

Adjustment to assumptions
Approximate effect on 

liabilities
KD ‘000

Discount rate

Plus 0.5% (1,556)

Minus 0.5% 1,765

Inflation

Plus 0.25% 363

Minus 0.25% (367)

Life expectancy

Plus 1 year 761

Minus 1 year (757)

Note the above sensitivities are approximate and only show the likely effect of an assumption being adjusted whilst all 
other assumptions remain the same.

  Segmental analysis34	

The Group activities are concentrated in four main segments: investment, building material, specialist engineering and 
hotel and IT operations. The segments’ results are reported to the higher management in the Group. In addition, the 
segments results, assets and liabilities are reported based on the geographic locations which the Group operates in. 

Geographical segments
The geographical analysis is as follows;

Assets Sales

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017 Year ended 
31 Dec. 2018

Year ended
 31 Dec. 2017

KD ‘000 KD ‘000 KD ‘000 KD ‘000

Kuwait 640,716 628,293 64,404 59,656

Outside Kuwait 562,008 637,000 61,002 50,854

1,202,724 1,265,293 125,406 110,510
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34 	
Segm

ental analysis (C
ontinued)

The follow
ing is the segm

ents inform
ation, w
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506,115
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34	 Segmental analysis (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment of the Group are primarily utilised by the building materials segment, hotel & IT services 
segment and the specialist engineering segment. The additions and depreciation relating to property, plant and 
equipment along with impairment in values by each segment, in which the assets are used, are as follows:

Investment Building 
materials

Specialist 
engineering 

and chemical

Hotel and 
IT services Total

KD ‘000 KD ‘000 KD ‘000 KD ‘000 KD ‘000
At 31 December 2018
Additions to property, plant and equipment 10 5,523 7,121 91 12,745
Depreciation 316 3,023 3,462 390 7,191
Impairment in value of goodwill and other 
intangible assets - - 2,468 1,166 3,634

At 31 December 2017

Additions to property, plant and equipment 4 3,760 4,024 95 7,883

Depreciation 221 3,129 2,806 326 6,482
Impairment in value of available for sale 
investments 5,247 - - - 5,247

Related party transactions35	
Related parties represent associates, directors and key management personnel of the Group, and other related parties 
such as major shareholders and companies in which directors and key management personnel of the Group are 
principal owners or over which they are able to exercise significant influence or joint control. Pricing policies and terms 
of these transactions are approved by the Group’s management.
Details of significant related party transactions and balances are as follows:

31 Dec. 2018
KD ‘000

31 Dec. 2017
KD <000

Balances included in the consolidated statement of financial position:
Due from related parties (included in accounts receivable and other assets)

Due from associate companies-	 921 825
Due from key managements personal -	 70 70
Due from other related parties-	 5,875 5,845

Due to related parties (included accounts payable and other liabilities) 
Due to associates -	 419 20
Due to other related parties -	 1,695 1,492

Year ended 
31 Dec. 2018

KD ‘000

Year ended 
31 Dec. 2017

KD ‘000
Transactions with related parties:
Development and construction costs - 2,555
Sale of available for sale investments and investment properties to related parties - 1,173
Transfer of assets to a related party - 350
Purchase of financial assets at FVOCI 3,537 -
Transactions included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss:
Purchase of raw materials – from associates 4,308 2,899
Impairment in value of accounts receivable and other assets 803 -
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35	 Related party transactions (continued)
Year ended 

31 Dec. 2018
Year ended 

31 Dec. 2017
KD ‘000 KD ‘000

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group

Short term employee benefits 4,654 3,913

Board of Directors’ remuneration including subsidiaries 839 850

End of service benefits 163 253

5,656 5,016

Summary of financial assets and liabilities by category and fair value measurement 36	

36.1	 Categories of financial assets and liabilities

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities as stated in the consolidated statement of financial 
position may also be categorized as follows:

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

KD ‘000 KD ‘000

Financial assets:

At amortised cost: (2017: loans and receivables)

Bank balances and cash•	 32,077 38,436

Short term deposits •	 9,136 8,020

Wakala and sukuk investments•	 1,153 1,153

Accounts receivable and other financial assets (Note 17)•	 45,075 90,448

87,441 138,057

At fair value:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (Note 19)•	 364,713 74,780

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (Note 20)•	 216,485 -

581,198 74,780

Available for sale investments (Note 21)

At fair value-	 - 504,988

At cost / cost less impairment -	 - 20,214

- 525,202

Total financial assets 668,639 738,039

Financial liabilities:

At amortised cost:

Due to banks•	 23,009 22,315

Accounts payable and other financial liabilities (Note 26)•	 57,102 47,493

Borrowings and bonds•	 611,117 673,315

691,228 743,123
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36	 Summary of assets and liabilities by category (continued)

36.2 	Fair value measurement

Fair value represents the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Financial assets at fair value though profit or loss, 
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income are carried at fair value and measurement details 
are disclosed in note 36.3 to the consolidated financial statements. In the opinion of the Group’s management, the 
carrying amounts of all other financial assets and liabilities which are at amortised costs are considered a reasonable 
approximation of their fair values. 

The Group also measures non-financial asset such as investment properties at fair value at each annual reporting date 
(Note 36.4).

36.3 	Fair value hierarchy

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are grouped into three 
Levels of a fair value hierarchy. The three Levels are defined based on the observability of significant inputs to the 
measurement, as follows: 

-      Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

-      Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and 

-      Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs). 

The level within which the asset or liability is classified is determined based on the lowest level of significant input to 
the fair value measurement.

The financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis in the statement of consolidated financial 
position are grouped into the fair value hierarchy as follows;

At 31 December 2018

 
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Balance

Note KD ‘000 KD ‘000 KD ‘000 KD ‘000

Assets at fair value 

Financial assets at FVTPL

-Quoted shares a 214,493 - - 214,493

-Quoted debt securities a 1,299 - - 1,299

-Unquoted equity participations b - 12,134 9,508 21,642

-Managed portfolios and funds c - 5,207 122,072 127,279

Financial assets at FVOCI

-Quoted shares a 45,854 - - 45,854

-Unquoted equity participations b - 58,789 82,265 141,054

-Managed portfolios and funds c - 6,951 22,626 29,577

261,646 83,081 236,471 581,198
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36	 Summary of financial assets and liabilities by category (continued)

36.3 	Fair value hierarchy (continued)

At 31 December 2017

 
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Balance

Note KD ‘000 KD ‘000 KD ‘000 KD ‘000

Assets at fair value 

Financial assets at FVTPL

-Quoted shares a 24,928 - - 24,928

-Managed portfolios and funds c 654 41,751 7,447 44,518

Available for sale investments 

-Quoted shares a 216,808 - 14,634 231,442

-Unquoted equity participations b - 61,531 102,202 163,733

-Managed portfolios and funds c 3,786 106,027 109,813

242,390 107,068 230,310 579,768

Measurement at fair value

The Group’s finance team performs valuations of financial items for financial reporting purposes, including Level 3 
fair values, in consultation with third party valuation specialists for complex valuations, where required. Valuation 
techniques are selected based on the characteristics of each instrument, with the overall objective of maximizing the 
use of market-based information.

The methods and valuation techniques used for the purpose of measuring fair values, are unchanged compared to the 
previous reporting year, except for certain foreign quoted shares that have been fair valued based on quoted prices in 
active markets as the Group’s management believes that such valuations are more representative of the fair values 
of such investments based on the information available to the management. Accordingly, these investments with a 
carrying value of KD14,634 thousand has been transferred from level 3 to 1 level. 

a) Quoted shares and debt instruments (Level 1 and 3)

Quoted shares represent all listed equity securities which are publicly traded in stock exchanges. Where quoted prices 
in an active market are available, the fair value of such investments have been determined by reference to their quoted 
bid prices at the reporting date (Level 1) and if the market for an investment is not active, the Group has established 
fair value by using valuation techniques (Level 3).

b) Unquoted equity participations (Level 2 and 3)

The consolidated financial statements include holdings in unlisted securities which are measured at fair value. Fair 
value is estimated using discounted cash flow model or observable market prices or other valuation techniques which 
include some assumptions that are not supportable by observable market prices or rates.
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c) Managed portfolios and funds

Private equity funds (Level 3)
The underlying investments in these private equity funds mainly represent foreign quoted and unquoted securities. 
Information for these investments is limited to periodic financial reports provided by the investment managers. 
These investments are carried at net asset values reported by the investment managers. Due to the nature of these 
investments, the net asset values reported by the investment managers represent the best estimate of fair values 
available for these investments. 

Other managed portfolios and funds (Level 1, 2 and 3)
The underlying investments of international managed portfolios and funds represent quoted and unquoted securities. 
They are valued based on periodic reports received from the portfolio/fund managers.

36	 Summary of assets and liabilities by category (continued)

36.3 	Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Level 3 Fair value measurements

The Group measurement of financial assets and liabilities classified in level 3 uses valuation techniques inputs that are 
not based on observable market data.  The financial instruments within this level can be reconciled from beginning to 
ending balances as follows:

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

KD ‘000 KD ‘000

Opening balance 230,310 297,135

Net change in fair value (1,139) 2,423

Impairment recognised in profit or loss - (3,401)

Transferred from investments carried at cost to fair value  20,214 -

Net addition during the year 1,720 10,500

Reclassification (14,634) (76,347)

Closing balance 236,471 230,310
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36	
Sum

m
ary of assets and liabilities by category (continued)

36.3 	Fair value hierarchy (continued)
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36	 Summary of assets and liabilities by category (continued)
36.4	 Fair value measurement of non-financial assets

The following table shows the Levels within the hierarchy of non-financial assets measured level 3 of fair value hierarchy 
on a recurring basis at 31 December 2018 and 2017.

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

KD ‘000 KD ‘000

Level 3 Level 3

Investment properties

- Lands and buildings in Kuwait 38,020 38,045

- Lands and buildings in Saudi Arabia 4,794 4,781

- Lands and buildings in UAE 344 354

- Properties under development 29,583 17,038

- Lands in UAE 168 1,635

- Lands in Jordan 504 501

- Lands in Kuwait 2,600 2,850

- Building in London 844 917

76,857 66,121

The above buildings mainly represent rental properties on freehold land categorized as “Investment Lands” (i.e 
land which can be used to construct multiple residential unit buildings, apartments, villas, duplex and studios), in 
Kuwait, UAE, London and Saudi Arabia. The freehold lands above also mainly represent lands categorized as 
investment lands. The fair value of the investment properties has been determined based on valuations obtained 
from independent valuators, who are specialised in valuing these types of investment properties. The significant 
inputs and assumptions are developed in close consultation with management. One of these valuators is a local 
bank (for local investment properties) who has valued the investment properties using primarily two methods, one 
of which is the yield method and other being a combination of the market comparison approach for the land and 
cost minus depreciation approach for the buildings. The other valuator who is a local/foreign reputable valuator 
has also valued the investment properties primarily by using a combination of the methods noted above. When the 
market comparison approach is used, adjustments have been incorporated for factors specific to the land in question, 
including plot size, location, construction/development cost and current use. For the valuation purpose for properties 
in Kuwait, the Group has selected the lower value of the two valuations (2017: lower of two valuations). Further 
information regarding the level 3 fair value measurements is set out in the table below:
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36	
Sum

m
ary of assets and liabilities by category (continued)

36.4	Fair value m
easurem

ent of non-financial assets (continued)
Fair value as at

Valuation technique
Significant unobservable

input
R

elationship of unobservable 
inputs to fair value

R
ange of 

unobservable inputs
31 D

ec.
2018

K
D

 ‘000

31 D
ec.  

2017
K

D
 ‘000

Land 
and 

buildings 
in 

K
uw

ait, U
A

E
 and S

audi 
A

rabia
72,741

60,218

Yield m
ethod and M

arket 
com

parison approach 
for land and cost less 

depreciation for buildings

E
stim

ated m
arker price for 

land (per sqm
)

The higher the price per square 
m

eter, the higher the fair value

2018: K
D

714 to 
K

D
7,900

(2017: KD
1,100 to 8,052)

C
onstruction cost (per 

sqm
)

The higher the price per square 
m

eter, the higher the fair value
2018: K

D
51 to K

D
2,527

(2017: K
D

59 to K
D

662)

Average m
onthly rent (per 
sqm

)

The higher the construction cost 
per square m

eter, the higher the 
fair value

2018: K
D

3.86 to 
K

D
154.37

(2017: KD
2.5 to KD

154)

Yield rate
The higher the rent per square 
m

eter, the higher the fair  value
2018: 6.11%

 to 11.15%
(2017: 5.23%

 to 14.89%
)

Vacancy rate
The higher the yield rate, the 

low
er the value

2018: 10%
(2017: 10%

)

Freehold 
lands 

K
uw

ait, 
U

A
E

 and Jordan
3,272

4,986
M

arket com
parison 

approach
E

stim
ated m

arket price for 
land (per sqm

)
The higher the price per square 
m

eter, the higher the fair value
2018: K

D
89 to K

D
7,900 

(2017: KD
55 to KD

8,050)

B
uilding in London

844
917

Yield m
ethod

Average m
onthly rent (per 
sqm

)
The higher the rent per square 
m

eter, the higher the fair  value
2018: K

D
11.85

(2017: K
D

11.12)

Yield rate
The higher the yield rate, the 

low
er the value

2018: 6.11%
 

(2017: 5.86%
)

Vacancy rate
The higher the vacancy rate the 

low
er the fair value

2018: 10%
(2017: 10%

)

Level 3 Fair value m
easurem

ents
The G

roup m
easurem

ent of investm
ent properties classified in level 3 uses valuation techniques inputs that are not based on observable m

arket data.  The m
ovem

ent 
in the investm

ent properties is disclosed in N
ote 22.
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Risk management objectives and policies37	

The Group’s financial liabilities comprise due to banks, short term and long term borrowings and bond, leasing creditors 
and accounts payable and other liabilities.  The main purpose of these financial liabilities is to raise finance for Group 
operations. The Group has various financial assets such as accounts receivable and other assets, bank balance and 
cash, wakala and sukuk investments, short term deposits and investments and investment securities which arise 
directly from operations.

The Group’s activities expose it to variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and 
price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Board of Directors sets out policies for reducing each of the risks discussed below.

The Group also enters into derivative transactions, primarily interest rate swaps.  The purpose is to manage the 
interest rate risks arising from the Group’s sources of finance.  The Group’s policy is not to trade in derivative financial 
instruments.

37.1	 Market risk 

The most significant financial risks to which the Group is exposed to are described below.

a)  Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair values or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to 
changes in foreign exchange rates.

The Group mainly operates in the Middle East, USA and United Kingdom and is exposed to foreign currency risk arising, 
primarily from US Dollar, Saudi Riyal and GBP. The consolidated statement of financial position can be significantly 
affected by the movement in these currencies. To mitigate the Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk, non-Kuwaiti 
Dinar cash flows are monitored. 

Generally, the Group’s risk management procedures distinguish short-term foreign currency cash flows (due within 
twelve months) from longer-term cash flows. Foreign currency risk is managed on the basis of limits determined by the 
Parent Company’s board of directors and a continuous assessment of the consolidated open positions. 

The Group’s significant net exposure to foreign currency denominated monetary assets less monetary liabilities at the 
reporting date, translated into Kuwaiti Dinars at the closing rates are as follows:

 
31 Dec. 2018
Equivalent

31 Dec. 2017
Equivalent

KD ‘000 KD ‘000

US Dollars (97,540) (140,043)

Saudi Riyals 14,658 15,670

GBP (97) 2,634

The Parent Company’s management estimates that a reasonable possible change in the above exchange rate would 
be 5%. 

If the Kuwaiti Dinar had strengthened against the foreign currencies assuming the above sensitivity (5%), then this 
would have the following impact on the profit for the year. There is no impact on the Group’s other comprehensive 
income.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)



112

37	 Risk management objectives and policies (continued)

37.1	 Market risk (continued)

a)	 Foreign currency risk (continued)

Impact on profit

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

KD ‘000 KD ‘000

US Dollars 4,877 7,002

Saudi Riyals (733) (783)

GBP 5 (132)

4,149 6,087

If the Kuwaiti Dinar had weakened against the foreign currencies assuming the above sensitivity (5%), then there would 
be an equal and opposite impact on the profit for the year, and the balances shown above would be negative for US 
Dollars and GBP and positive for Saudi Riyals (2017: negative for US Dollars and positive for GBP and Saudi Riyals). 

Exposures to foreign exchange rates vary during the year depending on the volume and nature of the transactions. 
Nonetheless, the analysis above is considered to be representative of the Group’s exposure to the foreign currency risk.

b)	 Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future profitability or the fair values 
of financial instruments. The Group is exposed to interest rate risk on its short term deposits (Note 15), borrowings and 
bonds (Note 27) and due to banks (Note 15) which are both at fixed and floating interest rates.  The risk is managed by 
the Group by managing an appropriate mix between fixed and floating rate, short term deposits and borrowings.

Positions are monitored regular to ensure positions are maintained within established limits. 

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the profit for the year to reasonable possible change of interest rate of 
+25 (0.25%) and -75 (0.75%) basis points with effect from the beginning of the year. The calculation is based on the 
Group’s financial instruments held at each reporting date. All other variables are held constant. There is no impact on 
Group’s other comprehensive income.

Increase in interest rates Decrease in interest rates

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017 31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

KD ‘000 KD ‘000 KD ‘000 KD ‘000

Effect on profit for the year (1,479) (1,620) 4,438 4,860

c)	 Equity price risk

This is a risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices, whether 
these changes are caused by factors specific to individual instrument or its issuer or factors affecting all instruments, 
traded in the market. The Group is exposed to equity price risk with respect to its listed equity investments which are 
primarily located in Kuwait, Jordan, Bahrain, Abu Dhabi, Saudi Arabia, Egypt, Pakistan and USA. Equity investments 
are classified either as “financial assets at fair value through profit or loss” or “financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income”.

To manage its price risk arising from investments in equity securities, the Group diversifies its portfolio. Diversification 
of the portfolio is done in accordance with the limits determined by the Group. 
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37.1	 Market risk (continued)

c)	 Equity price risk (continued)

The equity price risk sensitivity is determined on the exposure to equity price risks at the reporting date. If equity prices 
had been 10% higher/lower, the effect on the profit for the year and other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 
December would have been as follows:  

A positive number below indicates an increase profit and other comprehensive income where the equity prices increase 
by 10%. All other variables are held constant.

Profit for the year Other comprehensive income

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017 31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

KD ‘000 KD ‘000 KD ‘000 KD ‘000

Financial assets at FVTPL 21,449 2,558 - -
Financial assets at FVOCI (2017: Available 
for sale investments) - 1,085 4,585 21,680

21,449 3,643 4,585 21,680

For a 10% decrease in the equity prices there would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit for the year and other 
comprehensive income and the amounts shown above would be negative.

37.2	 Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other 
party to incur a financial loss.  The Group credit policy and exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis. 
The Group seeks to avoid undue concentrations of risks with individuals or groups of customers in specific locations or 
business through diversification of its activities. 

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is limited to the carrying amounts of financial assets recognised at the reporting 
date, as summarized below: 

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

KD ‘000 KD ‘000

Bank balances and cash 32,077 38,436

Short term deposits 9,136 8,020

Wakala and sukuk investments 1,153 1,153

Accounts receivable and other assets (Note 17) 45,075 90,448

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 364,713 74,780

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 216,485 -

Available for sale investments - 525,202

668,639 738,039

The Group continuously monitors defaults of customers and other counterparties, identified either individually or by Group, 
and incorporate this information into its credit risk controls. Where available at reasonable cost, external credit ratings and/
or reports on customers and other counterparties are obtained and used. The Group’s policy is to deal only with creditworthy 
counterparties. None of the above financial assets are past due nor impaired except for certain wakala investments (Note 16) 
and account receivable and other asset (Note 17) respectively. The Group’s management considers that all the above financial 
assets that are neither past due nor impaired for each of the reporting dates under review are of good credit quality. 
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37.2	 Credit risk (continued)

In respect of receivables, the Group is not exposed to any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty. The 
credit risk for bank balances and short term deposits is considered negligible, since the counterparties are reputable financial 
institution with high credit quality. Information on other significant concentrations of credit risk is set out in Note 37.3.

37.3	 Concentration of assets

The distribution of financial assets by geographic region was as follows:

Kuwait
Other 

Middle Eastern 
Countries

Asia and 
Africa

UK and 
Europe USA Total

KD ‘000 KD ‘000 KD ‘000 KD ‘000 KD ‘000 KD ‘000

At 31 December 2018

Geographic region:

Bank balances and cash 14,401 6,387 133 10,695 461 32,077

Short term deposits 8,953 183 - - - 9,136

Wakala and sukuk investments 1,153 - - - - 1,153

Accounts receivable and other assets 18,540 14,881 2,257 8,297 1,100 45,075

Financial assets at FVTPL 164,679 79,747 2,176 4,897 113,214 364,713

Financial assets at FVOCI 39,793 102,437 55,650 4,329 14,276 216,485

247,519 203,635 60,216 28,218 129,051 668,639

At 31 December 2017

Geographic region:

Bank balances and cash 27,316 6,923 121 4,063 13 38,436

Short term deposits 7,473 547 - - - 8,020

Wakala and sukuk investments 1,153 - - - - 1,153

Accounts receivable and other assets 20,524 56,000 2,306 6,212 5,406 90,448

Financial assets at FVTPL 17,436 13,555 873 34,702 8,214 74,780

Available for sale investments 160,195 197,070 69,963 4,977 92,997 525,202

234,097 274,095 73,263 49,954 106,630 738,039

37.4	 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its liabilities when they fall due.   To limit this risk, 
management has arranged diversified funding sources, manages assets with liquidity in mind, and monitors liquidity 
on a regular basis. 

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s assets and liabilities. Except for investments carried 
at fair value through profit or loss and fair value through other comprehensive income investments, the maturities 
of assets and liabilities have been determined on the basis of the remaining period from the reporting date to the 
contractual maturity date.  

The maturity profile for investments carried at fair value through profit or loss, fair value through other comprehensive 
income (2017: available for sale investments) and investment properties is determined based on management’s 
estimate of liquidation of those investments.
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37	 Risk management objectives and policies (continued)

37.4	 Liquidity risk (continued)

Maturity profile of assets and liabilities are as follows:

At 31 December 2018 At 31 December 2017

1 year Over 1 year Total 1 year Over 1 year Total

KD ‘000 KD ‘000 KD ‘000 KD ‘000 KD ‘000 KD ‘000

ASSETS

Bank balances and cash 32,077 - 32,077 38,436 - 38,436

Short term deposits 9,136 - 9,136 8,020 - 8,020

Wakala and sukuk investments 1,000 153 1,153 1,153 - 1,153

Accounts receivable and other assets 43,219 6,234 49,453 92,152 3,755 95,907

Inventories 36,587 - 36,587 33,194 - 33,194

Financial assets at FVTPL 144,828 219,885 364,713 74,780 - 74,780

Financial assets at FVOCI      57,676 158,809 216,485 - - -

Available for sale investments - - - 113,836 411,366 525,202

Investment properties - 76,857 76,857 - 66,121 66,121

Investment in associates 4,886 312,576 317,462 - 336,045 336,045

Property, plant and equipment - 88,876 88,876 - 72,314 72,314

Goodwill and other intangible assets - 9,925 9,925 -  14,121  14,121 

329,409 873,315 1,202,724 361,571 903,722 1,265,293

LIABILITIES

Due to banks 23,009 - 23,009 22,315 - 22,315

Accounts payable and other liabilities 58,642 35 58,677 48,364 27 48,391

Borrowings and bonds 265,136 345,981 611,117 465,342 207,973 673,315

Provisions - 13,573 13,573 - 15,157 15,157

346,787 359,589 706,376 536,021 223,157 759,178
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The contractual maturities of financial liabilities based on undiscounted cash flows are as follows:

Up to 1 month 1-3  months 3-12 months Over 1 year Total

KD ‘000 KD ‘000 KD ‘000 KD ‘000 KD ‘000

31 December 2018

Financial liabilities (undiscounted)

Due to banks 23,009 - - - 23,009

Accounts payable and other liabilities 26,003 6,527 24,537 35 57,102

Borrowings and bonds 37,939 60,839 194,260 407,484 700,522

86,951 67,366 218,797 407,519 780,633

31 December 2017

Financial liabilities (undiscounted)

Due to banks 22,315 - - - 22,315

Accounts payable and other liabilities 20,125 8,254 19,087 27 47,493

Borrowings and bonds 41,041 81,186 368,654 229,804 720,685

83,481 89,440 387,741 229,831 790,493

The Group’s short term borrowings principally represent revolving facilities with local and foreign banks and financial 
institutions.  During the year 2018, the Group’s management has successfully renewed all short term facilities which were 
classified as falling due within one month and one to three months.

  Capital risk management 38	

The Group’s capital management objectives are to ensure that the Group maintains a strong credit rating and healthy ratios 
in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value.

The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments in the light of changes in economic conditions and risk 
characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount 
of dividends paid to shareholders, buy back shares, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. 
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The capital structure for the Group consists of the following:

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

KD ′000 KD ′000

Borrowings and bonds (Note 27) 611,117 673,315

Due to banks  23,009 22,315

634,126 695,630

Less :

Bank balances and cash (32,077) (38,436)

Short term deposits (9,136) (8,020)

Wakala and sukuk investments (1,153) (1,153)

Net debt 591,760 648,021

Total equity 496,348 506,115

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio.

This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by the total equity as follows:

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

% %

Net debt to equity ratio 119 128

Fiduciary assets39	

One of the subsidiaries of the Group manages mutual funds, portfolios on behalf of related and third parties, and maintains 
securities in fiduciary accounts which are not reflected in the consolidated statement of financial position. Assets under 
management at 31 December 2018 amounted to KD9,225 thousand (2017: KD8,840 thousand) of which assets managed on 
behalf of related parties amounted to KD3,121 thousand (2017: KD2,968 thousand).

  Contingent liabilities and capital commitments40	

At 31 December 2018, the Group had contingent liabilities in respect of outstanding bank guarantees amounting to KD26,888 
thousand (2017: KD24,705 thousand) and other contingencies with regard to pending litigations and tax claims amounting to 
KD356 thousand (2017: KD356 thousand)

At the reporting date the Group had commitments for the purchase of investments and the acquisition of property, plant and 
equipment and investment properties totalling KD31,498 thousand (2017: KD43,418 thousand) and committed loan to a 
related party KD304 thousand (2017: KD2,720 thousand).

At the reporting date, the Group had commitment to pay lease rentals amounting to KD3,874 thousand (2017: KD4,815 
thousand).
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Dividend distribution41	

Subject to the requisite consent of the relevant authorities and approval from the general assembly, the Parent Company’s 
Board of Directors propose a cash dividend of 12% (2017: 10%) equivalent to 12 Fils (2017: equivalent to 10 Fils) per share 
for the year ended 31 December 2018 and 5% bonus shares which represent 67,992,654 shares of 100 Fils each amounting 
to KD6,799 thousand.

At the Annual General Meeting held on 10 May 2018, the shareholders approved a cash dividend of 10% equivalent to 10 Fils 
per share for the year ended 31 December 2017 (2016: Nil).

Comparative information42	

Certain other comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the presentation in the current year, and such 
reclassification does not affect previously reported net assets, net equity and net results for the year or net decrease in cash 
and cash equivalents.
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